School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science



Differential expression of tick *Ixodes ricinus* genes induced by blood feeding or infection: genetic analysis of ML domain containing proteins

Ph.D. Thesis

Mgr. Jana Plchová

Supervisor: prof. RNDr. Libor Grubhoffer, CSc.

Co-supervisor: Nataliia Rudenko, Ph.D.

Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, and Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the ASCR

České Budějovice

2012

This thesis should be cited as:

Plchová, J., 2012: Differential expression of tick *Ixodes ricinus* genes induced by blood feeding or infection: genetic analysis of ML domain containing proteins. Ph.D. Thesis Series, No. 1. University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 110 pp.

Annotation

ML (MD-2-related lipid-recognition) domain containing proteins are recognized as immune-related molecules. They do not belong among well-studied proteins in ticks although their occurence is quite often. Generally, ML proteins are involved in innate immunity processes, lipid binding and transport. Usually, expression of tick ML domain containing proteins is induced by blood feeding. Two members of the ML protein family, ML-domain containing protein and Der-p2 allergen-like protein were isolated from *Ixodes ricinus* and characterized for the first time.

Declaration [in Czech]

Prohlašuji, že svoji disertační práci jsem vypracovala samostatně pouze s použitím pramenů a literatury uvedených v seznamu citované literatury.

Prohlašuji, že v souladu s § 47b zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. v platném znění souhlasím se zveřejněním své disertační práce, a to v úpravě vzniklé vypuštěním vyznačených částí archivovaných Přírodovědeckou fakultou elektronickou cestou ve veřejně přístupné části databáze STAG provozované Jihočeskou univerzitou v Českých Budějovicích na jejích internetových stránkách, a to se zachováním mého autorského práva k odevzdanému textu této kvalifikační práce. Souhlasím dále s tím, aby toutéž elektronickou cestou byly v souladu s uvedeným ustanovením zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. zveřejněny posudky školitele a oponentů práce i záznam o průběhu a výsledku obhajoby kvalifikační práce. Rovněž souhlasím s porovnáním textu mé kvalifikační práce s databází kvalifikačních prací Theses.cz provozovanou Národním registrem vysokoškolských kvalifikačních prací a systémem na odhalování plagiátů.

České Budějovice, 2.1.2012

Jana Plchová

This thesis originated from a partnership of Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, and Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the ASCR, supporting doctoral studies in the Molecular and Cell Biology and Genetics study programme.





Financial support

This work was financially supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 524/06/1479), Ministry of Education of the Czech Republic (MSM 6007665801, LC06009) and grant Z60220518 (research project of the Institute of Parasitology AS CR).

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Libor Grubhoffer, for the opportunity to work in his laboratory and for funding my research.

My thanks belong to Nataliia Rudenko and Marina Golovchenko for their advices, help, and optimistic views of many things and problems.

I also thank my closest collaborators, Terka and Verča, for their help with experimens, often discussions on scientific or unscientific topics and friendship. Also other members of our and other collaborating laboratories, especially Hanka, Janko, Váša, Patrik, Dan, Jarka for enjoyable atmosphere and help.

Thanks belong to all people that help me with experiments in any way.

I want also to thank all my friends for many unforgettable moments during the study.

Many thanks to my parents and my husband Radek for their support, to our son for quiet sleep during the writing and especially to my grandmother who encouraged me a lot.

List of papers and author's contribution

The thesis is based on the following papers (listed chronologically):

I. Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Grubhoffer, L., 2010. Der-p2 (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) allergen-like protein from the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus* – a novel member of ML (MD-2-related lipidrecognition) domain protein family. Parasitology 137, 1139-1149 (IF = 2.522).

Jana Plchová (Horáčková) participated in design of experimental procedure, tick collection, nucleic acids extraction and handling, gene isolation, bioinformatics/sequence analysis, expression and purification of the recombinant protein, antimicrobial and IgE binding activity determination, preparation of results for publication, manuscript writing and its revision.

II. Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Havlíková, S., Grubhoffer, L., 2010. *IrML* – a gene encoding a new member of the ML protein family from the hard tick, *Ixodes ricinus*. Journal of Vector Ecology 35, 410-418 (IF = 1.256).

Jana Plchová (Horáčková) participated in design of experimental procedure, tick collection, nucleic acids extraction and handling, gene isolation, bioinformatics/sequence analysis, preparation of in situ hybridization probes and in situ hybridization technique performing, preparation of results for publication, manuscript writing and its revision.

Contents

1. Introduction and literature review	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Ticks	2
1.2.1 General information	2
1.2.2 Overview of tick anatomy and physiology	2
1.2.3 Tick immunity	5
1.2.4 Tick life cycle	9
1.2.5 Ixodes ricinus	10
1.3 ML protein family	13
1.3.1 Group I	13
1.3.1.1 MD-2	14
1.3.1.2 MD-1	16
1.3.2 Group II	17
1.3.2.1 Npc2 protein	17
1.3.2.2 Mite major allergen proteins	20
1.3.3 Group III	23
1.3.3.1 PG/PI-TP of A. oryzae	24
1.3.4 Group IV	24
1.3.4.1 GM2-activator protein	24
1.4 ML proteins in ticks	27
2. Objectives	29
3. Results	30
3.1 ML-domain containing protein (ABU43149)	30
3.1.1 Research article I	33
3.2 Der-p2 allergen-like protein (ABL61513)	48
3.2.1 Research article II	51
4. Discussion	68
5. Conclusions	74
6. Materials and methods	76
7. References	84
8. Appendix	100

1. Introduction and literature review

1.1 Introduction

Ticks form the most important group of arthropods that transfers the greater variety of pathogens than any other arthropod vector group. They are ectoparasitic organisms that are dependent on blood intake. During the blood feeding, many changes occur in the tick's body on morphological, physiological and molecular level. The potential role of differentially expressed genes in the physiology of ticks underlies the host response of the tick to blood meal or infection. Many of the genes that were induced in castor bean tick *Ixodes ricinus* by blood meal or pathogen invasion fit into the current conceptual framework of host defense. The elucidation of inducible genes will provide a better understanding of the competence of *I. ricinus* as a vector of different pathogens.

In castor bean tick, differentially expressed genes were observed in bloodfed and Borrelia burgdorferi infected blood-fed ticks (Rudenko et al. 2005). Two cDNA libraries representing transcripts of expressed genes were prepared by subtractive hybridization in our laboratory. The first library contained gene transcripts of blood-fed ticks and the second library was comprised of B. burgdorferi infection-associated transcripts. The analysis of detected differentially expressed genes resulted in their assignment into several groups: genes involved in pathogen recognition and defense, oxidative stress response, digestion and pathogen transmission. The group of genes related to pathogen recognition and defense includes also the genes encoding proteins that belong to the ML domain protein family. These proteins with ML domain are often involved in lipid recognition and/or transport, especially in recognition of pathogen related molecules (Inohara and Nuñez 2002). Since the occurrence of proteins with ML domain is quite often, it is possible that they might be involved in different mechanisms of immune response of wide range of organisms and definitely deserve intensive study that might elucidate their function in tick's organism.

1.2 Ticks

1.2.1 General information

Ticks are obligate hematophagous arthropods occurring in almost every region of the world. They inhabit countries with tropical, subtropical, mild, and arctic climate. Most ticks parasitize warm-blooded organisms (mammals, birds) but some also attack several cold-blooded animals (reptiles, amphibians). Due to their occurrence, ticks are important vectors of pathogens causing a wide range of diseases worldwide. Ticks are able to transmit different viruses, bacteria, rickettsiae, protozoans and fungi representing a higher risk for more organisms than the majority of studied insect vectors. Taxonomically, almost 900 tick species belong to the subclass Acari and are divided into three families: Ixodidae ("hard ticks", 713 species of 13 genera), Argasidae ("soft ticks", 185 species of 4 genera) and Nuttalliellidae (1 species) (Table 1). Mostly the representatives of family Ixodidae occur in Europe.

1.2.2 Overview of tick anatomy and physiology

Ticks' body is divided into capitulum and idiosoma. The idiosoma is distinguished to podosoma with chelicerae, palps, hypostome and 4 pairs of legs, and opisthosoma with anal aperture. The hypostome is modified specifically for blood-feeding and is essential for the attachment to the host. Chemosensillas, mechanosensillas and eyes or photoreceptors are located on the capitulum. Ticks also have a special sensory organ - Haller's organ – on the tarsus of the leg I. This organ provides information about host location, host odors, or detection of pheromones. Cuticle, secreted by epidermis, covering whole tick body, serves as an exoskeleton (like in other arthropods); a layer of cuticle called procuticle, specifically its outer part, becomes sclerotized in certain parts and forms sclerites. The biggest sclerite, scutum, covers the anterior part of the body and protects the dorsal side of it. The major components of the cuticle are proteins and chitin; lipids represent a minor part.

For pathogen transmission, the alimentary system (especially midgut), hemolymph and salivary glands are the most important inner organs. Pathogens get into the tick's body via foregut. They enter hemocoel or hemolymph that washes every inner organ, from the midgut and continue to their target organ.

Family	Subfamily (subgroup)	Genera
Ixodidae ("hard	Ixodinae (Prostriata)	Ixodes
ticks")	Amblyomminae (Metastriata)	Amblyomma
	Haemaphysalinae (Metastriata)	Haemaphysalis
	Hyalomminae (Metastriata)	Hyalomma
	Bothriocrotoninae (Metastriata)	Bothriocroton
	Rhipicephalinae (Metastriata)	Rhipicephalus
		Rhipicentor
		Dermacentor
		Cosmiomma
		Cornupalpatum
		Margaropus
		Nosomma
		Anomalohimalaya
Argasidae ("soft	Argasinae	Argas
ticks")	Ornithodorinae	Ornithodoros
		Otobius
		Carios
Nuttalliellidae	Nuttaliellinae	Nuttalliella

Table 1. Overview of tick genera (Barker and Murrell 2004).

The alimentary system is divided into three parts: foregut, midgut and hindgut. The midgut is the biggest part of the alimentary system where digestion takes place. The midgut's branches serve as storage place. The midgut is formed by epithelial and muscle cells. Contrary to insect, the digestion in ticks is an intracellular process (with the exception of the intraluminal digestion of erythrocytes). Several types of cells can be distinguished in its epithelial layer, i.e., undifferentiated, digestive and secretory. The uptaken blood gets into the digestive cells by pinocytosis or endocytosis. Feeding is divided into several phases. The first, preparatory phase starts after attachment to the host, usually in 12-36 hours. No ingestion comes on and tick prepares feeding lesion first of all. Then, the growth phase (or slow feeding) takes place during few days and ingested blood is digested. The undifferentiated cells of the midgut epithelium grow and give rise to digestive and secretory cells. Creation of a peritrophic

that protects midgut membrane. the epithelium during injury and pathogens penetration, was detected in some species. After slow feeding period, rapid feeding period or repletion in mated females starts. The female increases its weight approximately 100 times in comparison to unfed state. Ingested blood is stored in midgut cells for further processing. Probably, vitellogenin producing cells grow up during this phase. Afterward, the tick drops off its host and females prepare for oviposition; in cases of larva and nymph molting occurs. The lysis of intracellular stored hemoglobin is much faster at this stage.

Hemolymph surrounds all inner organs and consists of plasma and hemocytes. Plasma, besides water, contains proteins,



Fig. 1. Scheme of hard tick's female internal organs. 1 – midgut, 2 – midgut diverticulum, 3 – salivary gland, 4 – ovary, 5 – Malphigian tubules. Adapted from Sonenshine 1991.

lipids, amino acids, carbohydrates, inorganic salts or certain pigments. Hemocytes are distinguished into several types: prohemocytes, plasmatocytes, granulocytes and spherulocytes. They are described in the chapter dedicated to tick immunity.

The biggest tick's gland is a pair of salivary glands consisting of a large cluster of acini joined together by a system of ducts. Several types of acini are distinguished. Type I acini (or agranular acini) mouth through short acinar ducts directly into the main salivary duct. These agranular acini have highly vacuolated central cells in the middle. They are responsible for the uptake of atmospheric moisture by unfed ticks and so for maintenance of water balance. Other acini types are granular due to the content of large granules. In soft ticks, only a granular acinus type occurs (type II acinus). As many as three different types of acini, types II, III and in males also type IV, are described in hard ticks. They contain granules with different compounds and occur in clusters that are usually opened into secondary ducts joined with the main salivary duct. Several cells of these acini are able to eliminate excessive water or secrete cement (in some species) in the first phase of feeding. During this process salivary glands are also enlarged several times (Sonenshine 1991).

1.2.3 Tick immunity

As was mentioned, ticks transmit great amount of various pathogens. All parasitic organisms get into the tick body usually in two main ways: through injury and during blood intake. To survive, tick has to defend itself against a high dosage of parasites. Ticks, as other invertebrates, did not develop adaptive immunity but use only innate immune responses. The first obstacle for parasites is the physical barrier of the tick's body – epithelia beneath cuticle, in tracheae and in digestive tract. Many of immune compounds are accumulated or produced in the tick's midgut through which the majority of pathogens enter the tick's body at the beginning of tick colonization.

Briefly, as with other arthropods, ticks are shown to possess two sets of immune responses. The first are cellular responses in ticks which include encapsulation, nodulation and phagocytosis. Humoral responses are the second set of immune responses in ticks and comprise the proteins that represent the molecular factors of self/non-self recognition (innate immunity) either involved in defense reactions or pathogen pattern recognition, as well as the effector molecules with enzymatic activities (proteases in the cascade of inactive enzymes, protein inhibitors of proteases). Understanding of tick-immunity is important determination of the host-pathogen interactions that facilitate or limit disease transmission.

Tick innate immune system must be able to distinguish between self and non-self molecules. This recognition is carried out by conserved pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) whose ligands are microbial components with pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). PAMPs represent non-self, usually lipids and carbohydrate molecules with typical occurrence in cell surfaces of bacteria and fungi. They often act as opsonins and so trigger cellular immune processes. For example, several lectins or peptidoglycan recognition proteins belong to PRRs (McGuinness et al. 2003; Dziarsky and Gupta 2006). As described in *Drosophila*, binding of PAMPs to PRRs leads to activation of Toll or Imd signaling pathway and further to activation of transcription of NF- κ B controlled immune response genes, often genes encoding components of humoral immunity (Michel et al. 2001; Tanji and Ip 2005).

The major participants of cellular immune response are hemocytes and they deserve a closer look. Since hemolymph is surrounding all internal organs, hemocytes act in any compartment of the tick's body. Four types of hemocytes were described in ticks: prohemocytes, plasmatocytes, granulocytes (type I and II) and spherulocytes (Sonenshine and Hynes 2008). Rounded prohemocytes (6-8 μ m) are the smallest hemocytes with high nuclear/cytoplasmic ration, and without granules. They are considered to be stem cells from which other hemocytes differentiate. Plasmatocytes (9-20 μ m) often possess the extensions of plasma membrane and undertake the function of phagosomes. Larger granulocytes (15-20 μ m) are also phagocytic cells. They also can have filopodia. Type I granulocytes contain electron-dense granules and granules with inner tubular structure while only electron-dense granules occur in type II granulocytes. The last type, spherulocytes (8-10 μ m) have numerous large membrane bounded granules with tubular structure (Borovičková and Hypša 2005).

As it was mentioned above, plasmatocytes and granulocytes I are able to phagocytize and encapsulate. Phagocytosis is a process that is comprised of several steps: recognition of microorganism, binding to the surface receptor, signal transduction and engulfment of foreign particle (Stuart and Ezekowitz 2005). Contrary to insect, no information is available about the process of phagocytosis in ticks. It was observed that tick hemocytes phagocytize mainly Gram positive bacteria, spirochetes, and also fungi (Sonenshine and Hynes 2008). In soft tick Ornithodoros moubata the ability of hemocytes to phagocytize bacterium Chryseobacterium indologenes (Burešová et al. 2006) and yeast Candida haemulonii (Loosová et al. 2001) was observed. Hemocytes of hard tick I. ricinus also engulf C. indologenes (Burešová et al. 2006). Interaction of hemocytes with Lyme disease spirochetes Borrelia burgdorferi that led to up to 6-fold increase of number of phagocytic cells in *I. scapularis* was described (Coleman 1997; Johns et al. 2000, 2001). On the contrary, spirochetes in non-vector tick species Dermacentor variabilis were cleared by mechanism other than phagocytosis. Two ways of *B. burgdorferi* phagocytosis by tick hemocytes were described in I. scapularis and I. ricinus: conventional

and coiling phagocytosis (Rittig et al. 2006; Grubhoffer et al. 2005). Production of reactive oxygen species during phagocytosis of bacteria by *R. microplus* hemocytes was also reported (Pereira et al. 2001).

Nodulation is another defense mechanism mainly used against large numbers of bacteria. During nodule formation microorganisms are captured in a coagulum of granular cells coated by hemocytes (Taylor 2006). Larger pathogens like nematodes are destructed by encapsulation, mechanism in which foreign particles are surrounded with a multilayer capsule composed of hemocytes (Eggenberger et al. 1990). Nodulation and encapsulation have been observed in *D. variabilis* so far (Eggenberger et al. 1990; Ceraul et al. 2002).

The second part of innate immunity, humoral immunity, is formed by three main mechanisms: humoral encapsulation, hemagglutination, and production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). Humoral encapsulation proceeds in a similar way as encapsulation by hemocytes, but is evoked by prophenoloxidase system. Prophenoloxidase system is well-studied in insect but not in ticks. To date, phenol oxidase activity was detected only in hemolymph of O. moubata nymphs (Kadota et al. 2002). Hemagglutination is mediated by protein or glycoprotein molecules that bind sugars. Such molecules are known as lectins or agglutinins. The first described tick lectins were found (but not isolated) in hemolymph of I. ricinus, O. tartakovskyi, O. papillipes and Argas polonicus (Grubhoffer et al. 1991). Hemagglutination activity was also revealed in hemolymph and extracts of gut and salivary glands of the hard tick Rhipicephalus appendiculatus (Kamwendo et al. 1993). In I. ricinus, hemagglutination activity was observed in midgut homogenate (Uhlíř et al. 1996). First identified tick lectin molecule was glycoprotein Dorin M from hemolymph of *O. moubata*. The primarily site of Dorin M expression was defined to be hemocytes but it was also detected in tick salivary glands. Most probably Dorin M is involved in recognition of non-self molecules (Kovář et al. 2000; Rego et al. 2006). Lectins with fibrinogen-related domain were identified in O. moubata and I. ricinus (Rego et al. 2005). Another type of lectin with possible function in innate immunity, galectin, was found in various organs of O. moubata (Huang et al. 2007).

Members of α 2-macroglobulin superfamily with relationship to complement system in vertebrates (α_2 -macroglobulins, C3 complement

components) and insect (thioester-containing and macroglobulin-related proteins) were also described in ticks (Burešová et al. 2011). For example, the alpha2-macroglobulin of *I. ricinus* is involved in phagocytic process of bacterium *C. indologenes* by tick hemocytes (Burešová et al. 2009).

The most distinctive part of humoral immunity is represented by antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). They consist rather diverse group of small peptides (usually 4-20 kDa) with significant difference in primary and secondary structure that enables them to interact with a wide variety of microorganisms. Antimicrobial peptides interact with invaders through their plasma membrane or cell wall. Although many AMPs have been studied, their mode of action and exact functions still remain unknown (Taylor 2006). The most studied types of AMPs are defensins, lysozymes, protease inhibitors and some others.

Defensing represent the most widespread and the most studied group of AMPs in ticks. These cysteine-rich mostly cationic peptides are synthesized as prepropeptides and processed to the small mature peptides (3-6 kDa). Six conserved cysteine residues are part of the defensins' primary structure. They are vital for the formation of disulfide bridges and stabilizing of their specific fold. Expression of defensins is usually up-regulated by bacterial challenge, especially by Gram-positive bacteria (e.g. Micrococcus luteus, Staphylococcus aureus in O. moubata; S. aureus, Bacillus subtilis, Corynebacterium renale in I. persulcatus) but in lower level also by Gram-negative bacteria (e.g. E.coli in I. persulcatus or Haemaphysalis longicornis) (Nakajima et al. 2002a; 2003; Lai et al. 2004; Zhou et al. 2007). Induction of defensin gene expression by blood feeding was described in soft and in hard ticks (Nakajima et al. 2001, 2002b; Rudenko et al. 2005). Site of defensins production (mainly in hemolymph and midgut) also indicates the site of action. Until date, defensins were identified in 6 soft and 11 hard tick species, usually in more than one isoform (Rudenko et al. 2007; Sonenshine and Hynes 2008; Saito et al. 2009; Chrudimská et al. 2010).

Several small antimicrobial peptides without similarity either to defensins or to other AMPs were discovered in different tick species. They show antimicrobial activity mostly against Gram-positive bacteria. Some of them were also active against Gram-negative bacteria and fungi. Cysteine-rich microplusin from *R. microplus* (Fogaça et al. 2004), histidine-rich hebraein from *Amblyomma hebraeum* (Lai et al. 2004), ixodidin from *R. microplus* (Fogaça et al. 2006), ixosins from *I. sinensis* (Yu et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2008) or longicornsin from *H. longicornis* (Lu et al. 2010) belong to this group of AMPs.

Lysozymes hydrolyze the β -1,4-glycosidic bonds between Nacetylmuramic acid and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine in cell wall peptidoglycans of Gram positive bacteria. Lysis activity of lysozymes from *Alveonasus lahorensis*, *O. moubata*, *O. papillipes*, *Hyalomma asiaticum* and *I. persulcatus* against Gram positive bacterium was described (Podboronov 1991). The level of lysozymes in hemolymph usually increases after the bacterial infection, as was observed in *D. variabilis* and *O. moubata* (Simser et al. 2004). In soft tick *O. moubata* the higher level of the AMP was also detected in midgut under the same conditions (Grunclová et al. 2003).

Many types of protease inhibitors have been identified and characterized in different tick species. A big group of inhibitors is connected with suppression of host defensive processes, prolongation of blood coagulation time as well as with blood digestion (e.g. serine protease inhibitors, trombin inhibitors). However, several inhibitors play significant role in tick immune reactions (cystatins – cysteine protease inhibitors) (Sonenshine and Hynes 2008).

1.2.4 Tick life cycle

During ontogenesis, ticks go through several developmental stages: egg, larva, nymph (several nymphal stages occur in argasid ticks) and adult. Every motile stage seeks for a host to feed on it. It needs energy and nutrients from blood for molting to the following stage and in case of adult females for oviposition or, in males (with exception of tick from *Ixodes* genus), for gametogenesis. Contrary to insects, ticks' life cycle lasts several years. Significant variations in their duration were observed between ixodids and argasids. Hard ticks usually feed on hosts for several days whereas soft ticks only several tens of minutes. Another difference is in the number of egg batches – ixodids lay eggs only once and dies whereas argasids do this several times during a life time (unique batches have smaller number of eggs). The majority of ixodid ticks attacks different hosts in different developmental stage, and thus

they have 3-host life cycle. There also exist certain exceptions – several species feed only on two or even one host. The life cycle of soft ticks is multi-host because of the existence of several nymphal instars and the repeating feedings of adults (Sonenshine et al. 2002).

1.2.5 Ixodes ricinus



Fig. 2. Unfed (A) and engorged (B) female of European sheep or castor bean tick *I. ricinus*.

Castor bean tick, *Ixodes ricinus*, also known as a sheep tick, is spread across whole Europe, from Iceland exception to Russia. The is Mediterranean region, where living conditions for the ticks are unfavorable due to low humidity. Ticks distribution reaches the

northern Africa in the south and Asia (Iran) in the east. They occur from lowlands to mountains. Few decades ago, ticks habitat was limited to altitude of 700-800 m.a.s.l. Nowadays ticks can be found even at altitude of 1250 m.a.s.l. (Materna et al. 2007). I. ricinus inhabits forests, woodlands and meadows or heaths. It has a typical 3-host life cycle. After hatching from eggs in leaf litter, larvae spread into the vegetation and parasite on the first host. Engorged, they drop off the host and molt to nymphs. Nymphs seek the second host, feed and molt again. Adults search for the third host, mate and females feed (males do not need to feed whereas their gametogenesis begins with the molting, not after feeding as in other genera); after dropping off females find optimal environment, lay eggs and die (Sonenshine 1991). The life cycle lasts under favorable conditions 1 year but in Central Europe it takes usually 3 years because of a winter diapause in each developmental stage. Over 300 animal species can be parasitized by *I. ricinus*. Typical hosts are small mammals, birds and lizards for larvae and nymphs; bigger animals like deer, sheep, cattle and other ruminants belong to typical hosts for adult ticks. Humans are rather occasional hosts.

I. ricinus is a vector of several pathogens (viruses, bacteria, rickettsiae, protozoans) that can cause a variety of diseases. In humans the most serious are Lyme disease and tick-borne encephalitis.

Lyme disease, a systemic illness, is caused by spirochetes from Borrelia *burgdorferi* sensu lato complex. Development of this disease usually involves three stages: early localized, early disseminated and late Lyme disease; patients cutaneous. neurologic, musculoskeletal, cardiac usually have and ophthalmologic manifestations (Sigal 2001; Brouqui et al. 2004). The causative agent infects the tick during its feeding on an infected host and colonizes tick gut. The receptor for one of borrelial surface antigen (exactly Outer Surface Protein A), TROSPA (Tick Receptor for OspA), was described in north American tick *I. scapularis*. Most probably it helps spirochetes to persist in the tick's body (Pal et al. 2004). During tick feeding, spirochetes migrate from the gut through hemolymph into salivary glands and further, infecting host. Considering the human sensitivity to *B. burgdorferi* s.l. spirochetes the complex of 18 Borrelia genospecies recognized till date can be divided into two major groups. The first group consists of 9 species that have not yet been reported in or isolated from humans. This group includes B. americana, B. andersonii, B. californiensis, B. carolinensis, B. japonica, B. tanukii, B. turdi, B. sinica, and B. yangtze; and the second group is formed by 9 species with pathogenic potential. This group includes B. afzelii, B. bavariensis, B. bissettii, B. burgdorferi s.s., B. garinii, B. kurtenbachii, B. lusitaniae, B. spielmanii and B. valaisiana (Rudenko et al. 2011).

Tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) belongs to genus *Flavivirus*, family *Flaviviridae*. TBEV is a causative agent of a serious neuroinfection in Europe and Asia, tick–borne encephalitis. In some cases the illness caused by European subtype of TBEV is asymptomatic. The most often symptoms are fever in the first phase and neurologic symptoms during the second phase. Tick infects itself by virus during co-feeding with infected ticks on the same host but the virus is also transmitted transtadially and transovarially (Gritsun et al. 2003). Viruses occur in tick salivary glands and could enter host in several tens of minutes after the feeding begins.

Castor bean ticks transmit causative agents of human granulocytic ehrlichiosis, human babesiosis and tularemia, diseases with lower occurrence. Human granulocytic anaplasmosis, previously known as human granulocytic ehrlichiosis is caused by *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, intracellular parasite of human blood cells. The illness has non-specific symptoms (high fever,

headaches, aching muscles and joints) and its development is usually mild; it can cause complications in patients with immunodeficiencies. Protozoan parasites *Babesia microti* or *B. divergens* are causative agents of human babesiosis. This disease has malaria-like symptoms without periodicity. Ticks, as well as some other species, transmit bacterium *Francisella tularensis* causing illness with many symptoms – fever, headache, nausea, ulcerated lesion in the site of tick bite. The majority of detected cases had the origin other than tick bite; for example, pathogen can be transmitted through skin or meat of infected animals (usually hares and rabbits) (Sonenshine et al., 2002; Brouqui et al. 2004).

Castor bean tick is an important vector of animal pathogens. Sheep are endangered by a *Flavivirus* of TBE complex causing louping illness, dogs by canine ehrlichiosis caused by *E. canis* and ruminants by tick-borne fever after infection by *E. phagocytophila*. Different borrelioses might be big problem for multiple animal species: dogs, cats, cattle or horses. Tularemia is a typical disease of hares, rabbits and rodents (Sonenshine et al. 2002; Hillyard 1996).

1.3 ML protein family

ML protein family combines different proteins with ML (<u>MD-2-related</u> lipid recognition) domain. However, their functional characteristics were described only for a few members of this family. Members of this relatively common family were identified in fungi, plants and animals. To date, more than 150 ML proteins are known. This protein family is characterized by presence of a single domain with immunoglobulin (Ig) fold. ML domain carries N-terminal signal peptide sequence and two pairs of cysteine residues at conserved positions (Inohara and Nuñez 2002). Cysteine residues form disulfide bridges that stabilize the tertiary structure of proteins as was confirmed in some members of the family (e.g. Ichikawa et al. 1998; Wright et al. 2000; Friedland et al. 2003). It is also known that some ML proteins are secreted (Kirchhoff et al. 1996; Muellen et al. 2003). Secondary structure is typically formed from β -rich regions joined by multiple strands.

Although the function of the majority of ML proteins has not been identified yet, the ML domain is responsible for lipid binding ability in several proteins from this family. ML proteins are involved in lipid transfer and metabolism or in pathogen recognition and immune response reactions (Inohara and Nuñez 2002).

According to the degree of sequence similarity protein family members are divided into four groups.

1.3.1 Group I

Protein members of the group I of the ML protein family are those most studied. Typical representatives are MD (<u>Myeloid D</u>ifferentiation) -1 and MD-2 proteins. Both are glycoproteins of 22-25 kDa with two N-glycosylation sites, important for protein functionality, and have no transmembrane regions. MD proteins possess seven cysteine residues in their amino acid sequences, of those only four residues occur in conserved positions. They act in complex with type I transmembrane receptors and carry a domain that is crucial for ligand recognition. Surface expression and activity of receptors depend on MD proteins.

1.3.1.1 MD-2

The MD-2 is a secreted glycoprotein with the length of 160 amino acids and the molecular weight of 25-30 kDa. All orthologs (except for chicken) have seven conserved cysteine residues in their amino acid sequence and two site of N-glycosylation (Visintin 2006) (Fig. 16). MD-2 was first described in human. Then, its orthologs were revealed in many other mammalian species – chimp, macaque, mouse, dog, rabbit, rat, hamster, cow, horse, pig or sheep (Visintin et al. 2006).

MD-2 acts as co-factor of a Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4); the receptor's ligand is lipopolysaccharide (LPS). TLRs (named due to their homology to the *Drosophila*'s Toll receptor) belong to the group of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), the conserved microbial structures that are almost similar within a group of microorganisms (Medzhitov and Janeway 2000). Examples of PAMPs are LPS, peptidoglycan, synthetic dsRNA, flagellin, CpG motifs associated with bacterial DNA. TLRs are a part of innate immunity where binding of ligand (PAMPs) activates NF- κ B and MAP (mitogen-activated protein) kinases and finally leads to the production of cytokines (Kopp and Medzhitov 2003). Structurally, TLRs have three parts: intracellular, transmembrane and extracellular part. The intracellular part contains a TIR (Toll/Interleukin-1 Receptor) domain. The extracellular part carries leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) domain with horseshoe-like shapes that is essential for ligand recognition (Fujimoto et al. 2004).

MD-2 exists in two forms – secreted and bound in complex with TLR4. Only monomeric form of MD-2, which binds to extracellular aminoterminal part of TLR4, interacts with TLR4 (Fujimoto et al. 2004). The residues Arg90, Lys91, Cys95, Asp100, Tyr102, and Cys105 of MD-2 are mostly involved in this process (Re and Strominger 2003). Two regions responsible for interaction with MD-2 exist on the TLR4 molecule: a region with negatively charged residues interacting with positively charged residues on MD-2 (especially with Arg68 and Lys109) and a region with positively charged residues binding negatively charged residues (in a loop between β F strand and α -helix) on MD-2 (Kim et al. 2007). Secreted MD-2 exists as monomers, and also as oligomers, that are linked by disulphide bridges. However, oligomers were observed only in recombinant MD-2. If native MD-2 also forms multimers is not known (Re and Strominger 2002; Mullen et al. 2003).

Structurally, MD-2 comprises of two β -sheets surrounding a large, narrow, deep hydrophobic cavity with positively charged entrance. The first sheet consists of three antiparallel β -strands; the second sheet has six antiparallel β -strands (Kim et al. 2007; Ohto et al. 2007). The structure is stabilized by three disulphide bridges formed between cysteine residues 25-51, 37-148, and 95-105. Both N-glycosylated residues occur relatively far from the cavity and thus they are, most likely, not involved into ligand binding but into secretion and protection of MD-2 (Ohto et al. 2007).

As was already mentioned, MD-2 in complex with TLR4 acts as co-factor in recognition of LPS. The TLR4-MD-2 complex is formed both in endoplasmatic reticulum and on the cell surface (Visintin et al. 2001; Gangloff and Gay 2004). Similarly to MD-2 interaction with TLR4, LPS is also bound by MD-2 monomer (Re and Strominger 2002; Teghanemt et al. 2008). LPS is bound by serum LPS-binding protein (LBP) that transfers it onto CD14, cell surface molecule. CD14 concentrates LPS and presents it to the MD-2-TLR4 complex (Miyake 2003). LPS or endotoxin occurs in outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria and consists of three parts: lipid A, core oligosaccharide, and O-side chain. The experiments revealed that MD-2 is responsible for LPS recognition in TLR4-MD-2 complex (Shimazu et al. 1999). As it was shown already, only monomeric MD-2 binds LPS, exactly lipid A, with stoichiometry 1:1 (Viriyakosol et al. 2001). Probably, highly positive regions of MD-2 might be involved in this interaction (Visintin et al. 2003). And how does the LPS recognition occurs? There are two possible mechanisms. The first one: LPS induces linking of two TLR4-MD-2 heterodimers by binding of two different MD-2 molecules through lipid A. The second one: binding of LPS by a TLR4-MD-2 complex enables forming of a heterodimer (Gangloff and Gay 2004). According to last findings, the second model is more probable (Kim et al. 2007; Park et al. 2009).

However, LPS is not the only molecule that is bound by TLR4-MD-2 complex. Plant taxol was also identified as a ligand of the complex (Kawasaki et al. 2003).

Besides LPS binding, MD-2 also influences the amount of TLR4 on the cell surface. For example, soluble MD-2 incubated with HEK293 epithelial cells transfected with TLR4 increases the cell surface levels of the receptor in the absence of LPS (Lauer et al. 2009).

1.3.1.2 MD-1

MD-1 was discovered by coprecipitation as a molecule associating with RP105 (<u>Radio Protective</u>) receptor on mouse B cells (Miyake et al. 1998). RP105 was described as the mouse B cell surface molecule transmitting an activation signal that leads to resistance against radiationcaused apoptosis and massive proliferation of B cells (Divanovic et al. 2007). Receptor



Fig. 3. Tertiary structure of human MD-2 (PDB 2e56).

RP105 has extracellular part with LRRs, transmembrane part and a very short cytoplasmic part without TIR domain. It needs the MD-1 ligand that probably binds by N-terminal of LRRs, for its expression on the cell surface. Thus, MD-1 is also expressed on the cell surface (Miura et al. 1998).

The MD-1 is a 162 amino acid long protein with 19 amino acid long Nterminal signal peptide and molecular weight between 22 and 25 kDa (depending on glycosylations).

For the first time MD-1 was isolated from chicken as a v-myb regulated gene, but now it is also known in other species – mouse, human, cow and pig



Fig. 4. Tertiary structure of chicken MD-1 (PDB 3mtx).

(Fig. 15). MD-1 and RP105 are expressed on several types of immune cells with differences in mouse and human (Divanovic et al. 2005). The association of RP105-MD-1 complex with TLR4-MD-2 complex was described. It inhibits TLR4-MD-2 ability to bind LPS and, probably, RP105 acts as a negative regulator of TLR4 mediated LPS responses (Divanovic et al. 2005, 2007; Yoon et al. 2010).

Recently, the crystal structure of MD-1 was determined. The molecule has β -cup like fold formed from two antiparallel β -sheets. Sheet 1 consists of six β -strands; sheet 2 comprises three β -strands. Three disulphide bridges that connect the two sheets are formed – Cys28-Cys53, Cys40-Cys149, Cys97-Cys107. Sheets surround a hydrophobic cavity with hydrophilic entrance (Yoon et al. 2010). In chicken and mouse orthologs of MD-1 LPS binding was shown. Similarly to MD-2, it binds lipid A but the interaction between MD-1 and LPS precursor lipid IVa is a little different than in MD-2 (Yoon et al. 2010). Probably, MD-1 could regulate LPS sensitivity.

1.3.2 Group II

Group II of ML protein family includes Npc2 and Npc2-like proteins, mite major allergen proteins, 8 *Drosophila melanogaster* and 5 *Caenorhabditis elegans* proteins (Inohara and Nuñez 2002). Three pairs of conserved cysteine residues in ML-domain are characteristic for this group.

1.3.2.1 Npc2 protein

Npc2 (Niemann-Pick protein type C2), firstly identified as HE1 (human epididymal protein 1) protein, is named according to the Niemann-Pick type C disease that is determined by the mutation in genes encoding Npc proteins. (First in late 1920's A. Niemann and L. Pick described a group of autosomal recessive lysosomal lipid storage disorders with common symptoms; Vanier 2010.) NPC disease is a rare hereditary fatal disorder (with incidence 1:150 000 for Western European population) characterized by defective intracellular transport of endocytosed cholesterol followed by accumulation of free unesterified cholesterol in late endosome and lysosome-like compartments (Patterson 2003; Chang et al. 2005; Huang et al. 2007) leading to progressive neurodegeneration and hepatosplenomegaly (Vanier 2010). The NPC disease is transmitted as autosomal recessive; 95% cases of the disease are caused by mutation of *npc1* gene (encodes transmembrane protein with a putative sterol sensing domain). A mutation in *npc2* gene encoding lysosomal Npc2 protein that binds above all cholesterol is responsible for only 5% of cases (Okamura et al. 1999; Huang et al. 2007). Although two types of disease causes were identified on molecular level, the phenotypic manifestation of both types is the same (Patterson 2003). To study this disorder an insect *D. melanogaster* model was used (Huang et al. 2007).

Description of glycopeptide called HE1 (later identified as a second gene of NPC disease, Npc2) in human epididymal fluid (Kirchhoff et al. 1996) was the first discovery of ML protein from this group (Npc2-related proteins). Later, it or its homologs presence was described also in other secretory fluids like in bovine milk or human and murine bile (Larsen et al. 1997; Klein et al. 2006) (Fig.17). Human Npc2 protein has 132 amino acids (excluding 19 amino acids of N-terminal signal peptide), forms 3 disulfide bridges and possesses 3 possible N-glycosylation sites from which one site is never glycosylated (Friedland et al. 2003; Chikh et al. 2004; Vanier and Millat 2004; Liou et al. 2006). Microheterogeneity of Npc2 in cells due to variations in glycosylations was revealed in mouse model with npc1 mutation (Chen et al. 2005). Similarly to other soluble lysosomal proteins, Npc2 is likely posttranslationally modified, marked and targeted to endolysosomal system through mannose-6-phosphate receptors (Naureckiene et al. 2000; Willenborg et al. 2005). Here, in late endosomes associated with the internal membranes and lysosomes it acts as cholesterol-binding protein participating in cholesterol homeostasis maintenance (Chen et al. 2005).

If not synthetized endogenously, cholesterol gets into cells by LDL receptor pathway in endocytic vesicles that after obtaining hydrolase enzymes develop into late endosomes and lysosomes (Storch and Xu 2009). Glycoprotein Npc2 is involved in transport and efflux of cholesterol from lysosomes into plasma membrane. Transfer of cholesterol by Npc2 is also influenced by presence of some late endosomal lipids; it is stimulated by bis(monoacylglycerol)phosphate and inhibited by sphingomyelin (Abdul-Hammed et al. 2010). Npc2 binds cholesterol in a 1:1 stoichiometry with binding affinities from 30 nM to 2 μ M (Ko et al. 2003; Storch and Xu 2009). Rate of cholesterol transfer from Npc2 to membrane vesicles has been studied. It resulted in finding that Npc2 interacts with membranes by collisional mechanism that is many times faster than an aqueous diffusion-mediated cholesterol transfer. Transfer rates were also higher in a case of membrane with several incorporated anionic phospholipids used or, moreover, at acidic pH or environment with the increased NaCl concentration – up to 2 M (Cheruku et al.

2006; Xu et al. 2008). On egress of cholesterol from lysosomes, Npc2 also cooperates with transmembrane Npc1. Npc1 has soluble N-terminal domain which likely acts as acceptor of cholesterol and thus the protein transfers cholesterol through membrane or through cholesterol transporter. Or, the second possibility is that cholesterol is bound to Npc1, after interaction transfer to Npc2 that transmits the molecule to cholesterol transporter (Infante et al. 2008; Subramanian and Balch 2008).

Another function of Npc2 has been described already. It has been shown that Npc2 binds and tranports the lipid antigen (isoglobotrihexosylceramide) to CD1d molecules (MHC class I-like proteins that present lipids and glycolipids to immune system) in lysosomes during thymocyte selection of NKT (natural killer T) cells. In this process it works as dimer (Schrantz et al. 2007; Liu 2009).

Structural analysis of bovine Npc2 revealed Ig-like β-sandwich fold formed



Fig. 5. Tertiary structure of bovine Npc2 (PDB 1nep).

from seven β -strands divided into two β sheets stabilized by three disulfide bridges (Cys8–Cys121, Cys23–Cys28, and Cys74– Cys80) and three small cavities. The smallest one is connected with a pocket on the surface of the protein (Friedland et al. 2003). The pocket is fully formed only with the presence of bound ligand (Xu et al. 2007). Npc2 is able to bind not only

cholesterol, but also other cholesterol-related molecules like precursors of cholesterol biosynthesis – desmosterol, lathosterol; dihydrocholesterol isomers - 5α -cholestan-3 β -ol, 5β -cholestan-3 β -ol; plant sterols – β -sitosterol, dehydroergosterol, stigmasterol; some 3-positions cholesteryl esters - cholesteryl sulfate, 5α -cholestan-3-one, cholesteryl acetate or an oxysterol - 24-hydroxycholesterol (Friedland et al. 2003; Liou et al. 2006). 3D structure has been determined for single bovine Npc2 (PDB 1NEP) and for bovine Npc2 with cholesterol sulfate complex (PDB 2HKA) (Friedland et al. 2003; Xu et al. 2007).

1.3.2.2 Mite major allergen proteins

Mites are well-known sources of allergens that often cause allergic responses of different severity in human (from allergic rhinitis, asthma to anaphylactic shock). Usually, mite allergens are hidden in house dust, and come from mite feces. They are divided into multiple (19) groups according to their sequence similarity, biochemical and functional characteristics (enzymatic activity, effect on T cells). Group 1 and 2 allergens were identified as the most important allergens. They represent the major part of the mite extracts and show high IgE binding activity in vitro. Group 2 allergens are responsible for over 60% of allergies in mite-sensitized people and only they belong to the ML protein family (Thomas et al. 2002; Reginald 2006). Isolated group 2 allergens are summarized in the Table 2 and Fig. 18. These allergens have a high IgE binding activity and as other ML protein family members contain six cysteine residues that form three disulfide bridges in order 1-6, 2-3 and 4-5. However, their exact function is still unknown. The sequence polymorphism was revealed in group 2 allergens as well as in the case of other allergen groups; first in Der f 2 allergen of Dermatophagoides farinae (Yuuki et al. 1990). Polymorphism occurs in mites due to the presence of different alleles of the gene. This can affect the recognition of epitopes by T cells, IgE or monoclonal antibodies in allergen molecule (Lagares et al. 2002). Genetic polymorphism was described in group 2 allergens of D. pteronyssinus, D. farinae, Glycyphagus domesticus, and Lepidoglyphus destructor among others (Kaiser et al. 2003; Piboonpocanun et al. 2006; Gafvelin et al. 2001; Smith et al. 2001).

Der p 2 and Der f 2 from house dust mites *D. pteronyssinus* and *D. farinae*, respectively, are the most studied allergens from group 2. They show 88% of sequence identity on nucleotide level and 87% on protein level (Mueller et al. 1998; Ichikawa et al. 2005). The tertiary structure of both allergens is stabilized by three disulphide bridges and forms symmetric transient dimers (Ichikawa et al. 1998; Mueller et al. 1998; Rouvinen et al. 2010). Figures 6 and 7 show the tertiary structure of Der p 2 and Der f 2. Recently, a lot of studies were conducted with purpose to determine IgE epitopes or check effect of different

			Number	Molecular	
		Accession	of amino	weight	
Organism	Name	number	acids	(Da)	References
house dust mites					
Dermatophagoides					
pteronyssinus	Der p 2	AAF86462	145	15867	Chua et al. 1990
Dermatophagoides					
farinae	Der f 2	BAA01240	146	15802	Yuuki et al. 1991
Euroglyphus	Eur m				
maynei	2	AAC82349	145	15746	Smith et al. 1999
storage mites					
Tyrophagus					Eriksson et al.
putrescentiae	Tyr p 2	O02380	141	14851	1998
					Temeyer et al.
Psoroptes ovis	Pso o 2	Q965E2	143	15211	2002
Lepidoglyphus					Schmidt et al.
destructor	Lep d 2	CAA61419	141	14772	1995
Glycyphagus					Gafvelin et al.
domesticus	Gly d 2	CAB76459	123	13179	2001
Aleuroglyphus					Ramjan and
ovatus	Ale o 2	AAS75832	144	15531	Chew 2003
Suidasia					Reginald et al.
medanensi	Sui m 2	AAS75831	141	15071	2006
					Reginald et al.
Blomia tropicalis	Blot 2	ABG76185	142	15179	2006

Table 2. Group 2 allergens of mites.

mutations on the allergenicity (Nishiyama et al. 1995; Takai et al. 1997, 2000, 2001; Nakazawa et al. 2005).

Der p 2 is a 14 kDa protein with homology to Npc2 protein (among allergens Der f 2 and Lep d 2). It is formed by two antiparallel β -sheets (sheet 1 contains strands from residues 13-17, 34-42 and 85-93; sheet 2 comprises residues 6-8, 51-58, 61-64, 104-112 and 115-122) that overlay each other at an angle of approximately 30°. However, two strands were not defined by NMR



Fig. 6. Tertiary structure of *D. pteronyssinus* allergen Der p 2 (PDB 1ktj).

spectroscopy but only by crystalography (Mueller et al. 1997, 1998; Derewenda et al. 2002). Remaining residues create loops and also a short α -helix (residues 72-75). Because some regions of the allergen were described in different conformations, it is possible that they move slowly (Mueller et al. 1997, 1998). Structure forms an internal cavity, covered with hydrophobic and aromatic amino acid residues that leads on the surface to a short tunnel rich in proline residues. Der p 2 is

considered to be a lipid-binding protein without enzymatic activity; this theory is supported by the presence of the hydrophobic residues in the cavity (Derewenda et al. 2002). Several experiments have been made to determine the ligand of the allergen but all of them brought no results. Also LPS was tested and it was observed that Der p 2 binds it although with a very low affinity (Manček Keber et al. 2005). On the other hand, Der p 2 was shown to mimic MD-2 by facilitating LPS signaling through binding not only by LPS, but also by TLR4 (Trompette et al. 2009). The IgE epitopes of the allergen are conformational, stabilized by disulphide bridges that are crucial for antibody recognition. Several amino acid residues (44-46, 100) on the molecule surface are involved in recognition by IgE (Smith and Chapman 1997; Mueller et al. 1998). Besides, studies directed on localization of regions responsible for recognition of Der p 2 by T cells in the context of MHC (major



Fig. 7. Tertiary structure of *D. farinae* allergen Der f 2 (PDB 2f08).

histocompatibility complex) class II were performed. For example, regions of amino acid residues 25-31, 78-104, or 87-112 were determined as important for recognition by T cells and stimulating their proliferation in mice (Wu et al. 2002; Hoyne et al. 1993), while peptide 111-129 was mostly recognized by human T cells (O'Brien et al. 1995). Although the function of Der p 2 is not known yet, the site in *D. pteronyssinus* body, where allergen occurs, was revealed. In both sexes of the mite, it was localized in the gut (epithelial cells) and in the fecal pellets (Park et al. 2000).

The other most studied mite group 2 allergen is Der f 2 from D. farinae. Like Der p 2 it is also 14 kDa molecule with a high degree of similarity to the D. pteronyssinus allergen. Nevertheless, their crystal structures are different. Der f 2 is formed from two major anti-parallel \beta-sheets (sheet 1 consists of strands from residues 13-18, 34-43, and 85-93; sheet 2 contains strands 5-7, 51-58, 61-63, 104-112, and 115-122), an additional small β-sheet (residues 27-30 and 125-128) and a short α -helix (formed from residues 71-75) (Ichikawa et al. 1998, 2005; Johanessen et al. 2005). The two major β -sheets overlay each other at an angle of approximately 30° (Ichikawa et al. 2005; Suzuki et al. 2006). Der f 2 carries two cavities: a larger cavity that is covered by hydrophobic and aromatic amino acid residues and is joined with exterior by a tunnel, and a smaller cavity near the mouth of the tunnel (Ichikawa et al. 2005; Johanessen et al. 2005). Many studies focused on determination of IgE epitopes on the allergen molecule, or on effect of different mutations of Der f 2 on IgE binding have been made. It was revealed that two disulphide bonds (8-119, 73-78) and the surrounding regions are important for recognition by IgE (Nishiyama et al. 1995). Observation of allergen binding of Escherichia coli lysate was published (Ichikawa et al. 1998). Moreover, Der f 2 allergen binding to LPS in nanomolar affinity and 1:1 molar ratio, that could be inhibited by Ca²⁺, was also revealed (Ichikawa et al. 2009). Probably, Der f 2 could act as a component in antibacterial defense processes.

1.3.3 Group III

Not many proteins from group III of ML protein family have been discovered yet. Closer described and the most studied member of this group is a phospholipid transfer protein of *Aspergillus oryzae*, phosphatidylglycerol/phosphatidylinositol transfer protein (PG/PI-TP). Its putative orthologs and paralogs belong to this group as well as at least nine *Arabidopsis thaliana* proteins (Inohara and Nuñez 2002) (Fig.19).

1.3.3.1 PG/PI-TP of A. oryzae

The cDNA of the oligospecific phospholipid transfer protein, isolated from filamentous fungus *A. oryzae*, is encoded by a single gene that is translated into a 175 amino acids protein (Record et al. 2001). The amino acid chain carries the leader sequence composed of the putative signal peptide (1-21 aa) and the extra N-terminal signal sequence (22-37 aa) that is followed by a 30 amino acid long N-terminal sequence revealed in purified PG/PI-TP. A putative transmembrane domain (5-29 aa) is predicted in the site of the leader peptide. These parts of N-terminal sequence indicate that PG/PI-TP may be a secreted protein (Record et al. 1999). The mature protein is 138 amino acids long and has molecular weight of approximately 15 kDa. The PG/PI-TP expression seems to be regulated at the mRNA level. Its expression in fungus is not limited by presence of phospholipids in culture medium with glucose (Record et al. 1999). In the cells, the transfer protein was localized in the membrane of Golgi-like secretory vesicles and also in cytoplasm (Record et al. 1998).

1.3.4 Group IV

The most studied member of the group IV of the ML protein family is GM2-activator protein (GM2-AP) that has defined crystal structure. Other members of the group IV are GM2-AP orthologs as well as CheB proteins of *D. melanogaster* (Inohara and Nuñez 2002; Starostina et al. 2009) (Fig 20). These proteins are involved in perception of pheromones. They are secreted into lumen of pheromone-sensing hairs where they probably interact directly with lipid-like pheromones and modulate their detection (Starostina et al. 2009).

1.3.4.1 GM2-activator protein

GM2-AP is a small lysosomal or secreted protein with important roles in lipids metabolism and T cell activation. It binds, solubilizes and transports a variety of lipids (glycolipids, gangliosides, phosphoacylglycerol). However, it has and plays an essential role in hydrolysis of ganglioside GM2 to GM3 catalyzed by β -hexosaminidase A (Hex A). Mutation in a *gm2-ap* gene results in AB variant of GM2 gangliosidosis, fatal disease that is characterized by accumulation of GM2 primarily in neuronal cells. Patients suffer from progressive motor weakness, neuromuscular deterioration, exaggerated startle response to sharp sounds, have a sherry red spot in the fundus of the retina, in later stages of the disease, macrocephaly, seizures, dysphagia, and die before four years of age (Martin et al. 2005). This disease is one of three diseases that are characterized by GM2 accumulation; the further two illnesses are Tay-Sachs and Sandhoff disease that are caused by mutations in genes encoding α or β -subunit of Hex A.

GM2-AP is synthetized in rough endoplasmatic reticulum as 193 amino acid long prepolypeptide with 23 amino acid long signal peptide. It is usually glycosylated in one N-glycosylation site. The forms of propolypeptide differ in their molecular weights according to the type of glycosylation: 22 kDa form has a highly-mannose type and 24-27 kDa has a complex type, a part of molecules stay non-glycosylated. GM2-AP molecules with mannose type oligosaccharides can be marked by phosphate groups that protect oligosaccharide before further modifications in Golgi. A portion of such marked protein is secreted; the other part is targeted to the endosomal-lysosomal pathway through interaction with mannose-6-phosphate receptor (MPR). Activator molecules can be recaptured to lysosomes by MPR-dependent and MPR-independent pathway, which is saccharide-independent (Rigat et al. 1997). The further processing of Nterminus occurs in lysosome and results in a 162 amino acid long (17 531 Da)



Fig. 8. Tertiary structure of human GM2-AP (PDB 1g13).

mature protein (Mahuran 1998).

Crystal structure of GM2-AP was determined for activator alone and also in complex with bound lipids (Wright et al. 2000, 2003, 2004). Activator is folded into eight-stranded cup-shaped anti-parallel β -plated sheet. It consists of six nine-to-ten residue β -strands, an interrupted strand and a short strand; four disulphide bridges stabilize protein structure. Central hydrophobic cavity is not buried and is accessible for lipids. The cavity's mouth is splitted from the surface by a rim formed from flexible loops and short α -helix. It was revealed that these loops and residues (residues 125-133, Trp131) control entry of lipid molecules into the cavity and exist in different conformations – open and closed – that are stabilized by hydrogen bonding network (Wright et al. 2000, 2003).

A basic function of activator is its ability to bind and solubilize a wide spectrum of lipids, mainly acidic glycosphingolipids and gangliosides, acting as a biological detergent. It can transport them among liposomes. The transport is faster in environment with pH 5 than in pH 7, as it was observed *in vitro* (Mahuran 1998). GM-2 AP recognizes mostly negative-charged residues on glycosphingolipids or sulphate groups of gangliosides (Hama et al. 1997).

During GM2 hydrolysis the activator plays a crucial role in interaction with ganglioside GM2 and Hex A. It binds and solubilizes GM2 by partial inserting into the lipid bilayer, lifting GM2 out, and presenting trisaccharide moiety in soluble form to Hex A that cleaves *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) (Wright et al. 2000). Activator's residues Trp131, Trp63 participate, probably, in insertion into the lipid bilayer (Wright et al. 2003). Thus, activator must have regions involved in GM2 and Hex A recognition and binding. GM2-AP binds GM2 at two sites: within N-terminal part (residues 32-142) there is sialic acid binding site, and within C-terminal part (residues 143-193, especially Asp156, Glu158) GalNAc binding site occurs where activator presents GalNAc to Hex A (Wright et al 2000). Probably, the α -helical region of activator (Phe111-Pro120) participates in the interaction with Hex A, especially with its flexible loops in α -subunit (280-283, 396-398) (Zarghooni et al. 2004; Wendeler et al. 2006). Residues Asn423, Arg424 of the α -subunit of Hex A are responsible for GM2 binding (Lemieux et al. 2006).

Besides GalNAc hydrolysis of GM2 to GM3 by Hex A, activator also stimulates other catalytic reactions. They are: sialic acid hydrolysis of GM2 to GA2 by clostridial sialidase, hydrolysis of GalNAc from dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine- $II^{3}NeuAcGgOs_{3}$ by Hex A, liberation of galactose from GM1 by β -galactosidase, and ADP ribosylation by phospholipase D (Wu et al. 1994; Nakamura et al. 1998).

1.4 ML proteins in ticks

Although proteins belonging to ML protein family occur relatively often in many organisms, data about their presence, distribution and functional activities in ticks are very limited. A list of identified ML proteins in ticks is presented at Fig. 21 (Appendix). ML proteins were described in soft ticks Ornithodoros coriaceus. O. parkeri and in hard ticks *Rhipicephalus microplus*, R. appendiculatus, Dermacentor variabilis, Ixodes scapularis, and I. ricinus (Francischetti et al. 2009). The sites of their expression include several tissues. Analysis of midgut transcripts of *D. variabilis* revealed that transcripts of the genes encoding ML domain containing proteins are the third most abundant transcripts (specifically those of allergen-like proteins) in this tick species (Anderson et al. 2008). Transcripts of ML protein genes were detected in the midgut of *R. microplus* (Kongsuwan et al. 2010), in salivary glands of soft tick O. parkeri (Francischetti et al. 2008), and in male accessory glands/testis/vas deferens of D. variabilis fed males (Sonenshine et al. 2011) and in the body of I. scapularis (de la Fuente et al. 2008). All identified transcripts can be assigned to the group II of ML protein family. Three genes encoding proteins from ML family were found in O. parkeri salivary glands (Francischetti et al. 2008). At the same time five genes encoding ML proteins in D. variabilis midgut were detected: three of them are defined as allergen-like related; the other two are Npc2-related. All of them are probably involved in tick immunity. Two transcripts were found only in partially fed ticks (2 days fed), while three other occurred both in unfed and in (partially) fed (2 and/or 6 days fed) ticks (Anderson et al. 2008). In conclusion, ML proteins are constitutively expressed in tick body and their expression is also induced by blood meal.

In *I. ricinus*, four genes encoding ML domain containing proteins were identified. They are: alerg1 - gene for allergen-like protein (AJ547805), gene encoding Der-p2 allergen-like protein (EF116564), and two genes encoding two different ML domain-containing proteins (AY323234, EU034645) (Jacot 2003; Rudenko et al. 2005; Horáčková et al. 2010a, 2010b). The first described ML domain-containing protein was identified only in tick's gut. Its gene expression was induced by blood feeding or *B. burgdorferi* infection (Rudenko et al. 2005). The 116 amino acids long allergen-like protein was also found in

midgut. Blood feeding induces its expression that occurs between the second and the sixth day of feeding. Allergen-like protein was localized only in secretory vesicles of secretory cells in the gut between day 1 and 6 of tick feeding (Jacot et al. 2003).

Briefly, the genes encoding members of ML protein family were identified in different tissues of hard and soft ticks. The most frequent site of expression is midgut. Their expression is, in generally, induced by blood feeding. However, several members of tick ML protein family were expressed also in unfed ticks. Probably, proteins can be secreted from secretory cells of tissues into the lumen of organs or hemocoel and can act as transport or immune-related molecules.

This work is dedicated to ML-domain containing protein (ABU43149) and Der-p2 allergen-like protein (ABL61513) from castor bean tick *Ixodes ricinus*, the main vector of multiple infectious diseases of humans in Europe.

2. Objectives

The main aim of the work was to identify, isolate and characterize genes encoding proteins from ML domain protein family in the castor bean tick *I*. ricinus. Our attention was focused on structural and functional analysis of recombinant ML-domain containing protein and Der-p2 allergen-like protein. Being involved in transport and metabolism of lipids or in recognition of pathogen components such as LPS, tick ML proteins might be participants of tick immune response to infection or mediators of defensive reaction. Tick ML proteins might probably cooperate with the other tick proteins in pathogen recognition or in the process of digestion.

Specific aims were:

• Identification and isolation of the genes encoding ML proteins in *I. ricinus* and characterization of them by bioinformatics tools. Focusing on finding of characteristic features of tick ML domain (number of disulphide bridges, their sites, presence of N-terminal signal peptide, etc.), comparison with other related ML proteins; determination of amino acids important for possible lipid binding ability.

• Determination of expression patterns of both genes: time-, stage-, and tissue-specific expression; comparison of the gut- and salivary gland-expressed ML proteins of *I. ricinus* with respect of their possible role in tick immune response.

• Localization of the gene expression directly in dissected tick tissues and specification of the site of expression.

• ML proteins are reffered as immune-related proteins. Our aim is to analyse the possible roles of identified ML proteins in tick innate immunity and their interaction with different microorganisms. Determination of antimicrobial activity of recombinant tick ML proteins or their microbial-products binding ability is one of our goals.

• Determination of possible IgE binding ability, characteristic for allergens, especially in Der-p2 allergen-like protein.

3. Results

3.1 ML-domain containing protein (ABU43149)

Two genes encoding ML proteins were identified in *I. ricinus* and named accordingly to the content of the characteristic domain. Part of this work is dedicated to the ML-domain containing protein (IrML), described as the second one. The gene of IrML (EU034645) was identified due to its high sequence similarity to the partial mRNA sequence of ML domain-containing protein (AY323234) described before.

The existence of several polymorphic forms of IrML was revealed during the screening of subtracted cDNA library from the whole body of *I. ricinus*. Nucleotide substitutions identified in individual recombinant clones led to appearance of 8 different protein isoforms. Table 3 below shows the positions with changed amino acids. The most frequent were changes of amino acids with hydrophobic side chain (Lys, Met) by another one (Met, Lys, Ala) and hydrophobic amino acid (Lys, Ala) by polar uncharged amino acid (Thr). The highest number of amino acids substitutions detected in comparison with primarily identified IrML (ABU43149) was five.

	Reference - IrML	
Position nr.	(ABU43149)	Amino acid changes
4	Met	Leu/Glu
8	Ala	Leu
18	Ala	Thr
38	Met	Thr
46	Leu	Met
69	Ile	Val
72	Arg	Gly
87	Glu	Pro
96	Lys	Arg
97	Ser	Asn
102	Asn	Glu
103	Met	Ala
116	Leu	Thr

Table 3. Polymorphism in IrML.
IrML contains an ML domain that places it into the group II of ML protein family (together with Npc2-like or allergen-like proteins). As for the rest of protein members of group II, a possible ability of IrML to interact with lipids is predicted



Fig. 9. Scheme of IrML (A) and Npc2 (B) folds.

by the presence of putative lipid binding site, formed by residues 30, 41, 44, 46, 56, 62, 64, 66, 79, 81, 83, 100, 110, 118, 134, 136, 138, 140, 146, 149, 151, 153 (Marchler-Bauer et al. 2011). The presence of predicted N-terminal signal peptide defines the IrML as secretory pathway signal peptide. The predicted tertiary structure of IrML is highly similar to it of Npc2 protein from members of ML protein family with the known crystal structure. Both molecules consist of two β -sheets composed of three and four strands (Fig. 9). Essential three disulphide bridges are formed in the same order. Contrary to Npc2, IrML molecule is glycosylated in *I. ricinus*.

It was shown earlier that gene expression of ML domain-containing protein was induced by blood feeding or B. burgdorferi infection (Rudenko et al. 2005). Similarly to gene expression of ML domain-containing protein, IrML gene expression is also influenced by blood feeding of the tick. IrML gene expression, determined by analysis of whole body RNA, starts after beginning of feeding, fluently increases to the third day of feeding and stays approximately on the same level. IrML was localized in gut, hemolymph and salivary glands of *I. ricinus*. However, the highest expression level occurred in the tick gut. The time expression of IrML was compared between gut and salivary glands. Interestingly, the gene expression in the gut repeated the expression observed in the whole body but the expression found in salivary glands was different. It started after the third day of feeding and showed the permanent increasing. The same dynamics of gene expression was confirmed by in situ hybridization (ISH) technique. Tissues of unfed ticks did not show any positive signal; the positive staining was detected in partially fed ticks. Localization was more successful in salivary glands where IrML was expressed mainly in type II and III acini. Unfortunately, analysis of the gene expression in the tick gut by ISH technique did not show reliable results due to the high nonspecific signal.

Although specific polyclonal antibodies against recombinant IrML were prepared, detection of native IrML in tick was not succesful (by imunodetection, or immunoprecipitation).

Because the members of ML protein family are known to be involved in

innate immune processes, we examined the IrML effect on vitality of different microorganisms. We also checked the ability of selected microorganisms to affect the *IrML* gene expression. The experiment on the analysis of impact of different microorganisms on *IrML* gene expression was performed on *I. ricinus* embryonal cell



Fig. 10. Expression of *IrML* in tick cell line incubated with microorganisms. 1 - M. *luteus*, 2 - E. *coli*, 3 - B. *burgdorferi*, 4 - C. *albicans*, 5 - tick cells alone, 6 - negative control.

line IRE/CTVM 19. Tick cell line was incubated with selected inactivated microorganisms: Micrococcus luteus, Escherichia coli, B. burgdorferi and *Candida albicans.* As it is shown on Figure 11, the presence of *M. luteus* or C. albicans in a tick culture didn't show any affect on IrML expression in comparison to tick cells alone. Contrary to this, the presence of E. coli and B. burgdorferi significantly induced expression of IrML gene. Revealed results confirm the involvement of I. ricinus IrML in recognition of pathogen related compound. Gram-negative bacteria (E. coli, B. burgdorferi) upregulate the IrML expression in embryonal cell line IRE/CTVM 19. The opposite impact of recombinant IrML on vitality of selected microorganisms' was not confirmed. Neither incubation of bacteria (M. luteus, Staphylococcus xylosus, E. coli, Pseudomonas fluorescens, Enterobacter cloacae, C. indologenes) with IrML in liquid medium nor application of IrML into the solid medium on Petri dishes showed any effect on bacteria survival. Most probably I. ricinus IrML is involved in pathogen recognition, but not in elimination of invader in the tick body alone. It is possible that increased expression of IrML in response to pathogen invasion might trigger the activity of synergetic molecule that will start the defense reaction. IrML may stimulate other mechanisms in tick immune response and participate in other defense pathway.

3.1.1 Research article I

IrML - a gene encoding a new member of the ML protein family from the hard tick, *Ixodes ricinus*.

Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Havlíková, S., Grubhoffer, L. J. Vector Ecol. 35 (2010), 410-418.

Abstract

Blood intake causes significant changes in ticks, triggering vital physiological processes including differential gene expression. A gene encoding *Ixodes ricinus* ML-domain containing protein (IrML) is one of the set of the genes that are strongly induced by blood meals. IrML belongs to the ML protein family that commonly occurs in diverse organisms and is involved in lipid binding and transport, pathogen recognition or in immune response. An *IrML* gene was amplified from cDNA of engorged *I. ricinus* females using the gene-specific primers designed on a basis of partial sequences of related genes for ML domain protein. *IrML* was shown to be expressed mainly in the gut, but also in salivary glands and hemolymph of all tick developmental stages. Using in situ hybridization, IrML transcripts were detected in type II and III salivary glands acini. Analysis of the predicted structure of *I. ricinus* ML-domain containing protein and its localization in the tick body could suggest that IrML is a secreted protein and is possibly involved in tick innate immunity.

3.2 Der-p2 allergen-like protein (ABL61513)

Der-p2 allergen-like protein (D-Al protein) of *I. ricinus* was isolated during experiments with allergen-like protein (AJ547805). Two mentioned proteins showed highly similar N-terminal part but differ in the C-end of the molecule as is shown in Figure 12. Allergen like protein has 116 amino acids, while D-Al protein has 144 amino acids. Both proteins contain 16 amino acid long N-terminal peptide and Der-p 2-like domain, present in group II members of ML protein family. A putative lipid binding cavity in Der-p2 allergen-like protein is predicted (residues 23, 32, 35, 37, 47, 53, 55, 57, 70, 72, 74, 90, 99, 107, 122, 124, 126, 128, 134, 137). *D. farinae* allergen Der f 2 is the molecule with defined tertiary structure that showed the highest homology to *I. ricinus* D-Al protein. Both molecules form a structure with two main sheets comprised of three and four strands (Fig. 12). No predicted glycosylated residues were detected.



Fig. 11. Alignment of Der-p2 allergen-like protein (ABL61513) and allergen-like protein (CAD68004) of *I. ricinus*. Predicted signal peptide is written in italics.



Fig. 12. Scheme of D-Al protein (A) and Der f 2 (B) folds.

Gene encoding D-Al protein is not expressed in unfed adult ticks. The other tick developmental stages showed just a basic level of its expression. Expression of *D-Al* is induced by blood intake. It starts on the first day of feeding and reaches

the maximum level on the third day of blood intake. Analysis of gene encoding D-Al protein expression in tissues (gut, salivary glands, hemolymph, ovaries, Malphigian tubes) revealed that it is mainly gut-specific, but it is also detected in hemolymph. *In situ* hybridization technique did not reveal localization of mRNA in the gut. Specific antibodies against D-Al protein were prepared, but isolation of native tick molecule was not successful.

The exact role of allergens, especially of group 2 allergens, is not known even in mites, although they are the typical representatives of organisms

highly producing proteins. However, Der f 2 of house dust mite D. farinae is proposed to be involved in its innate immunity. The in vitro binding assay of Der f 2 showed its ability to bind E. coli (Ichikawa et al. 1998). Analogous experiments with recombinant tick D-Al protein resulted in interesting findings. The tick protein binds to E. coli but also, in lower degree, to *M. luteus* (Fig. 13). However. analysis of antimicrobial activity of D-Al protein did not give any results indicating that it affects the bacterial growth or it is involved in bacterial killing. Thus, D-Al protein can probably bind some



Fig. 13. In vitro binding assay of D-Al protein and E. coli (A) or M. luteus (B). 1 - purified D-Al protein, 5 - E. coli or M. luteus, 6 - BSA, 2+7 - wash fraction, 3+8 - 3 min incubation, 4+9 - 30 min incubation.

compound of *E. coli* (or another bacterium) when it gets into the tick's body. Maybe, it can interact with bacterial molecule and "presents" it for further processing.

Another experiment directed on the analysis of impact of selected microorganisms (*M. luteus, E. coli, B. burgdorferi, C. albicans*) on expression of *D-Al* in tick cell line IRE/CTMV 19 did not bring any positive results. None of the microorganisms involved in analysis induced expression of the gene encoding D-Al protein in tick cells.

Although *I. ricinus* bite usually does not cause the allergic reaction or even anaphylactic shock, we examined if D-Al protein is recognized by human immunoglobulin E antibodies. We found that the tick D-Al really can bind IgE. That indicates that it also can be distinguished by IgE. Maybe, D-Al protein can neutralize antibodies and protect tick gut during blood intake and digestion. Or, it can be bound by antibodies due to its similarity (probably partial) to molecule(s) recognized by these antibodies.

3.2.1 Research article II

Der-p2 (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) allergen-like protein from the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus* - a novel member of ML (MD-2-related lipid-recognition) domain protein family.

Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Grubhoffer, L. Parasitology. 137 (2010), 1139-1149.

Abstract

OBJECTIVE:

Expression of the gene encoding Der-p2 allergen-like protein in the castor bean tick *Ixodes ricinus* is induced by blood intake. Tick Der-p2 allergen-like protein belongs to a diverse family of ML proteins that includes major allergens of house dust mites, human MD-2 or similar proteins from *Drosophila melanogaster*. In ticks, genes encoding proteins belonging to the ML protein family were identified, but their protein products have not been characterized yet.

METHODS:

A gene encoding tick Der-p2 allergen-like protein was amplified from cDNA of engorged *I. ricinus* female using the gene-specific primers designed on a basis of partial sequences of related allergen-like genes. The tissue and state specific patterns of expression of the gene were analysed. The IgE binding activity of the produced recombinant protein was studied by use of ELISA.

RESULTS:

Analysis of the expression pattern showed that the gene encoding the tick Derp2 allergen-like protein is strongly induced by the blood meal in gut and haemolymph throughout all tick developmental stages. Der-p2 allergen-like protein possesses a putative lipid-binding site, according to the comparisons with the related proteins. The ability of tick Der-p2 allergen-like protein to bind immunoglobulin E (IgE) was revealed.

DISCUSSION:

The presence of a putative lipid-binding domain in Der-p2 allergen-like protein and its ability to interact with IgE might indicate the involvement of the protein in the tick's immune response.

4. Discussion

Our knowledge about the representatives of invertebrate ML proteins family is very limited. Identification and characterization of two novel members of ML protein family of castor bean tick *Ixodes ricinus* was the main aim of this work.

Sequence analysis of *I. ricinus* ML-domain containing protein revealed its high similarity to several predicted or hypothetical proteins of different tick species. The highest homology was shown to the putative ML domain-containing protein from *I. scapularis* (XP_002434499; identity 94%, similarity 97%) and the putative ML-domain containing protein from *Dermacentor variabilis* (ACF35538; id. 62%, sim. 75%). However, the closest relative to IrML was confirmed to be Sui m 2 of mite *Suidasia medanensi* (AAS75831; id. 28%, sim. 42%). Other related proteins represent Npc2 or Npc2-like proteins of different organisms with identity between 25 and 35% and similarity from 45 to 55% confirming that *I. ricinus* IrML belongs to Npc2-like group of ML protein family and also partially to lipid tranfer proteins.

IrML is expressed during blood feeding with increasing pattern first in the gut, then in hemolymph and with delay in salivary glands (during the second half of feeding). This fact leads to the presumption that IrML plays an important role in tick gut. As it is known, molecules involved in blood digestion and metabolism (enzymes and their inhibitors, ferritin), immune mechanisms (allergen-like, or lectin-like proteins), molecules associated with oxidative stress (glutathione-S-transferase, thioredoxin), cell, lipid and carbohydrate binding molecules (mucins, glycine rich proteins) are primarily expressed in the gut of ticks during the blood meal (Anderson et al. 2008). The first two mentioned groups are represented in *I. ricinus* mainly by a network of digestive peptidases (Horn et al. 2009) for the first group and, Ixoderin A, a fibrinogenrelated protein, α 2-macroglobulin, defensing for the second group (Rego et al. 2005; Rudenko et al. 2005, 2007; Burešová et al. 2009; Chrudimská et al. 2011). Some of the studied molecules, mostly involved in tick immune response, are also expressed in other I. ricinus tissues, mainly in hemolymph and salivary glands (Chrudimská et al. 2011). Hemolymph, surrounding all internal organs and tissues, among other molecules contains different proteins and peptides – transfer proteins, vitellogenin, lectins, antimicrobial proteins, and others (Gudderra et al. 2002). Compounds obtained from blood, digested or undigested in the gut, are transported free to target tissues through hemolymph or bound to carrier proteins. It is possible that IrML is transfered from gut into the hemolymph as well. Because the detection of native IrML was not succesful yet, it would be interesting to find out exactly where it occurs during the process of feeding and if it really is distributed from gut through hemolymph into other tissues or if its localization remains unchanged (focusing on site and time). Whereas in salivary glands the *IrML* expression starts during the second half of feeding - rather at the end of slow feeding period of the tick, probably it deals with the independent expression compared to the gut-expressed *IrML*. The salivary glands' IrML might have different function than the gut specific. The IrML probable site of action is lumen of organs or hemocoel – in salivary glands it is produced by secretory cells, in hemolymph by hemocytes, and it is possibly also secreted in the gut.

Since there is almost no information about functions of ML proteins (from group II), especially in invertebrates, we can only speculate about the processes and mechanisms in which IrML might be involved. Two most probable functions come into consideration. First, IrML is involved in tick innate immunity; second, it serves as a transport molecule. The experiments with IrML effect on microorganisms showed that it has not direct impact on their growth or survival but *IrML* expression is influenced by Gram-negative bacteria. These observations indicate that it could be involved in immune response to Gram-negative bacteria and in direct binding of specific bacterial molecule in particular, and serves as soluble PRR. Or it could be involved in interaction and transport of a bacterial component, or as a regular participant in immune defense process against ingested bacteria. Nevertheless, there is a possibility that IrML binds with different degree of specificity lipidic molecules and transfers them from the gut to the target tissues.

As IrML, the Der-p 2-like allergen protein sequence showed the highest similarity to hypothetical proteins of different ticks (besides *I. ricinus* allergen like protein). The most similar were the hypothetical protein of *Amblyomma maculatum* (AEO32826; id. 46%, sim. 72%) and the conserved hypothetical protein of *I. scapularis* (XP 002400837); id. 47%, sim. 41%). But the allergen

Pso o 2 of *Psoroptes ovis* mite (Q965E2) with the identity of 36% and the similarity of 58% is the most related one from the described proteins. Then follow the allergens of different mite species with identities and similarities ranging from 30 to 35% and 50-58%, respectively. $1 \ 2 \ 3 \ 4 \ 5$

Expression of gene encoding D-Al protein starts after blood intake and after the first day of feeding stays practically on the same level (Fig. 14). Besides hemolymph, midgut was defined as another site of the gene expression. Belonging of D-Al protein to ML protein family, its localization and other features suggest its involvement into transport mechanisms or



Fig. 14. Time expression of *D-Al* in *I. ricinus* females. 1 – unfed ticks, 2 – 1-day fed, 3 – 3-day fed, 4 – 5-day fed, 5 – 7day fed ticks.

tick immunity. The majority of known mite group 2 allergens occur in the gut. However, similar molecules were found in ticks salivary glands also.

Experiments for revelation of D-Al protein impact on bacterial growth, as decibed above, were performed. Adding of recombinant D-Al protein into the liquid or solid medium with different microorganisms did not affect their growth or vitality in any way. However, the *in vitro* binding assay conducted according to Ichikawa et al. (1998) showed that D-Al protein binds *E. coli* (Fig. 14). This result indicates the capacity of D-Al protein to bind to selected Gramnegative-specific molecules. Ichikawa et al. (2009) found out that Der f 2 binding of *E. coli* molecule was most probably caused by LPS binding. Possible LPS binding was not tested in D-Al protein due to low content of LPS in the sample.

Besides bacterial binding, D-Al protein has other binding ability – immunoglobulin E binding. IgE recognition and binding is one of the characteristic features of common allergens. However, ticks are not typical organisms that cause the allergic reaction neither to tick bite nor to their products (of course with some exceptions). But what is the reason for D-Al protein to bind IgE? Possibly, IgE that gets into the tick body with bloodmeal could be "neutralized" by D-Al protein. IgE can be transfered then through hemolymph into the salivary glands and afterwards be returned back into the feeding site and host in the way similar to immunoglobulin-binding proteins (IGBPs). These proteins help the tick to bind and excrete IgG ingested in blood back into the host's body. Part of IgG (and other plasma proteins) gets from the gut into the hemolymph and thus can bind to internal organs. In females of *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus*, IGBPs occur in hemolymph and salivary glands and via saliva they get IgG back into the host. It is proposed that IGBPs from hemolymph recognize IgG and those from salivary glands participate in excretion. Besides *R. appendiculatus*, IGBPs were isolated also from *Amblyomma variegatum*, *I. hexagonus*, *I. scapularis*, and *I. ricinus* (Wang and Nuttall 1999). Nevertheless, this function is less probable in D-Al protein due to the size of the protein with bound antibodies and its crossing from the gut into the hemolymph and further transferring to salivary glands. Rather than this, IgE is recognized and "neutralized" by D-Al protein directly in the gut, or in hemolymph where a small portion of IgE could get to. Or, the reason for D-Al protein recognized by IgE.

Thus, D-Al protein was predicted to posses the lipid binding site – possibly for a hydrophobic bacterial molecule, as well as IgE binding site, that was also described in other mite allergens. The lipid binding site is predicted to be located between the two β -sheets based in its homology to Der f 2 allergen (Fig. 12).

However, are there any allergens or allergenic molecules already described in ticks? Observations of allergic reactions in people bitten by tick are not so often but sometimes even anaphylactic shocks development is documented. Allergic reactions to bites of soft tick A. reflexus (Rolla et al. 2004), and hard ticks I. holocyclus (Gauci et al. 1989), I. pacificus (Van Wye et al. 1991), I. ricinus (Beaudouin et al. 1997; Fernández-Soto et al. 2001), and R. sanguineus (Valls et al. 2007) together with specific IgE presence in the blood of tick-biten people were reported. In the majority of cases, the molecule responsible for allergy reaction development is not known with the exception of A. reflexus where allergen Arg r 1 was defined. This 143 aa long molecule (after signal peptide cleavage) with the molecular weight of 15.3 kDa, without N-glycosylations, forming eight β -sheets and a random coil at C-terminus, belongs to lipocalin family (Hilger et al. 2005). Lipocalins are extracellular proteins with molecular weight of about 20 kDa that differ greatly in their structures and functions. They participate in modulation of immune response, retinol transport, invertebrate cryptic coloration, olfaction, pheromone

transport, prostaglandin synthesis, regulation of cell homoeostasis, and in the general clearance of endogenous and exogenous compounds. They are also able to bind small hydrophobic molecules, interact with receptors or form macromolecular complexes (Flower 1996). Lipocalins were identified in many tick species (for example I. scapularis, I. pacificus, O. coriaceus, *R. sanguineus*, *I. persulcatus*). Very often their expression is induced by blood feeding and salivary glands are defined as a site of their expression (Valenzuela et al. 2002; Francischetti et al. 2005, 2008; Anatriello et al. 2010; Konnai et al. 2011). Tick lipocalins are the example of molecules modulating host immune response. The characterized tick lipocalins are represented by moubatin, inhibitor of collagen-stimulated platelet aggregation, and OmCI, inhibitor of complement system, of O. moubata (Waxman and Connolly 1993; Roversi et al. 2007), toxins of O. savigniy (Mans et al. 2003), monomine and monotonin binding histamine and serotonin, respectively, of A. monolakensis (Mans et al. 2008) in soft ticks; and histamine-binding proteins of R. appendiculatus (Paesen et al. 2000), serotonin- and histamine-binding protein of D. reticulatus (Sangamnatdej et al. 2002), and lipocalin of *I. ricinus* binding leukotrienes B4 (Beaufays et al. 2008) in hard ticks. Almost all known tick lipocalins were found in salivary glands, but savicalin of O. savigniy is the first lipocalin found in hemocytes (Cheng et al. 2010). Although lipocalins and ML proteins in ticks have some similar features, similar size with β -rich fold, hydrophobic molecules binding, time of expression, the differences between them are obvious and they are in the site of expression and possible functions. The main function of tick lipocalins is modulation of host immune response, while ML proteins seem to be involved in tick immune processes.

It is possible that more ML proteins could be found in *I. ricinus* using the database search. More than 10 putative molecules containing ML domain have already been revealed during the genome analysis of *I. scapularis*. The majority of *I. scapularis* ML proteins were found in salivary glands. So, most probably, salivary glands of *I. ricinus* produce more such molecules at least. In this work, however, our attention was dedicated only to two ML domain containing proteins. A further interesting aim is the determination of tick ML proteins tertiary structure. Predicted models showed β -rich structure with two sheets and a putative lipid binding cavity between them. A possible hydrophobic cavity

indicates the existence of ligand(s) that differ(s) from those known in the most homologous proteins, especially in the case of IrML. The E. coli binding by D-Al protein showed that the molecule has a similar feature like Der f 2 allergen. As the Der f 2 ability to bind LPS was revealed (Ichikawa et al. 2009), it is possible that D-Al protein also binds just this bacterial molecule. Of course, further question is what happens with LPS (or another molecule) next. Is it "presented" for processing by immune mechanisms, acts as opsonin, or is it transported and stored at some safe place? If it is involved in immunity processes, it could start a pahway leading to production of compounds triggering the response against Gram-negative bacteria. Also, the changes in the site of expression (type of cells) or the transfer of the proteins to another tissues or organs could help in revelation of the function of I. ricinus ML proteins. Differences in the place of molecules occurrence can indicate their ablility to act as transport molecules and to work in more tissues. However, the two main possible functions of I. ricinus ML domain containing proteins, such as immune-related and/or transfer molecules are still open for discussion. What is the real function of these molecules could be the objective of future work.

5. Conclusions

ML-domain containing protein (IrML)

- IrML belongs into the group II of ML protein family. The closest to IrML related protein member of the family with known crystal structure is Npc2 with the homology of 25%.
- The gene expression is induced solely by blood feeding of the tick in all developmental stages.
- The major site of gene expression in *I. ricinus* is the gut but it can be found in hemolymph and salivary glands as well in lower level. Expression in the gut starts right after feeding begins, while the salivary glands-expression has a delay of some days.
- IrML is produced by secretory acini of salivary glands of partially fed females, by acinus type II and III.
- The *IrML* expression in tick cell line IRE/CTMV 19 is significantly influenced by the presence of Gram-negative bacteria, namely *E. coli* and *B. burgdorferi*. Impact of Gram-positive bacterium *M. luteus* and fungus *C. albicans* on the gene expression was not shown.
- The antimicrobial activity of recombinant IrML on both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria was not observed under conditions used.
- On a basis of experimental results the possible function of IrML in *I. ricinus* was defined as pathogen recognition molecule.

Der-p2 allergen-like protein (D-Al protein)

- D-Al protein of *I. ricinus* is a member of group II of ML protein family. The closest to D-Al related member of this family with defined crystal structure is Der f 2 allergen of house dust mite *D. farinae* (homology (33%).
- Expression of gene encoding D-Al protein in *I. ricinus* is activated rapidly by tick blood intake in all developmental stages.
- The expression is strongly gut-specific; weak expression is observed in hemolymph.

- The presence of microorganisms (*M. luteus*, *E. coli*, *B. burgdorferi*, and *C. albicans*) has no effect on expression of gene encoding D-Al protein in tick cell line IRE/CTMV 19.
- D-Al protein binds to specific bacterial molecule of *E. coli* and also, in lower degree, of *M. luteus*.
- The antimicrobial activity of recombinant D-Al protein on both Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria was not observed.
- Recombinant D-Al protein interacts with immunoglobulin E in a dosedependent manner.
- On a basis of experimental results the possible function of D-Al protein in *I. ricinus* was defined as transport molecule.

6. Materials and methods

6.1 Ticks

I. ricinus ticks were provided by the Biological Centre, Institute of Parasitology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic. Uninfected ticks were reared for several generations in the animal facilities of the Institute and fed on guinea pigs that were raised to be free of infection under the strict hygiene regulations of the Central Commission for the Protection of Animals (§21, section 3e, law 246/1992). Blood-fed larvae, nymphs, and females were obtained by attaching a container (cell) with ticks to a shaved area on the back of an adult uninfected guinea pig and left on the animal until the specified engorgement stage. After the separation of the fed ticks from the guinea pig, RNA was isolated from them using TRI Reagent (Sigma, USA). The fully engorged females were kept at 4°C for another three days for blood digestion prior to RNA isolation.

6.2 First strand cDNA synthesis and polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

First strand cDNA was synthesized using RevertAid[™] H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (MBI Fermentas, Lithuania) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. Primers ML1F/ML1R and AL1F/AL1R were designed according to the known partial nucleotide sequences of the gene encoding *I. ricinus* ML-domain containing protein (AY323234) and of gene encoding *I. ricinus* allergen-like protein (AJ547805) used for amplification (ML1F 5'-ATGGCCGGTTCTATGGTATTC-3'/ML1R 5-AAATTCTCCGGC TTCAGTTGTC-3', AL1F 5'-ATGTTCCGTTACGTTGTGTTCC-3'/AL1R 5-CATCCCCACCGCTGTAAC-3', Generi Biotech, Czech Republic).

6.3 Cloning and sequencing

Amplified PCR products were cloned into a pCR4-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, USA) directly or after purification from the gel by QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Competent *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen, USA) were transformed by recombinant constructs, plated on LB/agar/Amp and incubated overnight at 37°C. Individual recombinants were randomly picked from the plates, grown in small volume

(3 ml) of LB/amp and the plasmid DNA was purified using the Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, USA). Inserts were sequenced in both directions using M13 primers set. Sequencing was performed using ABI 3130 Sequencer and the Big Dye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, USA).

6.4 RT-PCR analysis of stage specific and tissue specific patterns and time expression of the genes

RT-PCR was performed using the Enhanced Avian HS RT-PCR kit (Sigma, USA). The equal amount of total RNA isolated from unfed and engorged larvae, nymphs and females of *I. ricinus* and different tissues (salivary glands, gut, ovaries, Malpighian tubules, and hemolymph) of partially engorged females (five days) was used as a template in RT-PCR in order to reveal the IrML and D-Al gene expression in different developmental and feeding stages. To determine time expression of the gene, equal amounts of total RNA from unfed, 1, 3, 5, 7 days-fed, and totally engorged adult females, were used as templates in RT-PCR. Also, an equal amount of RNA from salivary glands and gut from females unfed, 1, 2, 4 and 6 days after feeding, were used as templates in other PCRs (for IrML). The primers, ML2F 5'-CACCATGGCCGGTTCTATGGTA-3'/ML2R 5'- CTATTGCTTCAGCTCTA CCG-3' for IrML, and AL2F 5'-CACCATGTTCCGTTACGTTGTGTTCC-3'/AL2R 5'-TCACTCGATGACGATGTCCGA-3' for D-Al were used for the amplification with an annealing temperature of 55° C. A constitutivelyexpressed actin gene (AY333957) was chosen as a control. The control amplification was performed at the annealing temperature of 55° C with the primers Act-F1 5'-CGTCTGGATCGGCGGCTCTAT-3' and Act-R1 5'-ACGCGCACTCTTTTCCACAATCTC-3'. All RNAs used were first checked for DNA contamination by adding them directly into the PCR reaction with the specific primers.

6.5 Bioinformatics/sequence analysis

Sequences were compared against the GenBank non-redundant (NR) protein database using the BlastX program from the executable package at ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/executables (Altschul et al. 1997) and searched

against the Conserved Domains Database (CDD) (ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pub/mmdb/cdd), which includes all Pfam (Bateman et al. 2000) and Smart (Schultz et al. 1998) protein domains, as well as against the VectorBase (Lawson et al. 2009) (http://www.vectorbase.org) and the Gene Index Project (Quackenbush et al. 2001) (http://compbio.dfci.harvard.edu/tgi/cgi-bin/tgi/ Blast/index.cgi). Protein secondary structure prediction was performed by the PSIpred program (http://bioinf.cs.ucl.ac.uk/psipred) (McGuffin et al. 2000). Putative signal peptide, possible sites of O-glycosylation, N-glycosylation, and phosphorylation were determined with the prediction servers Signal P 3.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP) (Bendtsen et al. 2004), NetOGlyc 3.1 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/NetOGlyc) (Julenius *et al.* 2005), NetNGlyc 1.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/NetNGlyc) and NetPhos 2.0 (http:// www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/NetPhos) (Blom *et al.* 1999), respectively.

6.6 Tertiary structure prediction

For prediction of the 3D structure of the IrML protein, CPHmodel 2.0 Server was used (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/CPHmodels) to find the homologues for the *I. ricinus* molecule. A pdb file of the molecule (according to the similar sequences of structures from the protein databank) was downloaded and used in Polyview-3D for protein visualization (http://polyview.cchmc.org/polyview3d.html) (Porollo and Meller 2007).

6.7 Expression and purification of the recombinant proteins

The gene encoding Der-p2 allergen-like protein without signal peptide, prepared by PCR using the primers AL3F 5'-CACCAGCGCAGAAAAGCC GT-3' and AL2R (sequence above), and the gene of ML-domain containing protein without signal peptide, obtained from PCR with primers ML3F 5'-CACCCGCTGACGCACTTTCA-3' and ML2R (sequence above), were expressed in pET100/D-TOPO (Invitrogen, USA) expression vector as recombinant fusion proteins with N-terminal 6xHis tag. Rosetta-gami competent cells (Novagen, Germany) were transformed by recombinant construct. All procedures were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol in Champion pET directional TOPO expression kits (Invitrogen, USA). Isopropyl-β-d-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) (1mM final concentration)

was used for the induction of recombinant protein expression. Recombinant Der-p2 allergen-like protein was purified by Co²⁺-affinity chromatography using cartridge Co-MAC (Novagen, Germany). Bacterial lysate was prepared using lysis buffer containing 8 M urea, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0. The purification under denaturing conditions was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol: cartridge was equilibrated with 5 volumes of binding buffer (6 M urea, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.02 M Tris-HCl, 0.005 M imidazole, pH 7.9), and then the sample in binding buffer was applied. The cartridge was washed with 10 volumes of binding buffer, 6 volumes of washing buffer (6 M urea, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.02 M Tris-HCl, 0.06 M imidazole, pH 7.9) and the recombinant protein was eluted with 6 volumes of elution buffer (6 M urea, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.02 M Tris-HCl, 1 M imidazole, pH 7.9). The elution fractions were checked on SDS-PAGE and fractions containing recombinant protein given for further tests were dialyzed against PBS (phosphate-buffered saline) buffer, pH 7.4 with 6 M urea, 4 M urea, 2 M urea, 1 M urea, 0.5 M urea and PBS, respectively. The presence of the His-tagged Der-p2 allergen-like protein was verified by immunodetection with Ni-NTA conjugates (Qiagen, Germany).

6.8 SDS-PAGE and immunodetection of recombinant protein

SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions was performed as described by Laemmli (1970). Separated proteins were stained by PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution (MBI Fermentas, Lithuania). Proteins were transferred onto Immobilon-P transfer membrane (Millipore, USA). The blots were stained with Ni-NTA conjugates (Qiagen, USA) that detects 6xHis tag of recombinant protein, according to manufacturer's protocol.

6.9 Immunization of mouse and serum preparation

Recombinant protein in PBS (100 μ l) was mixed with the same volume of Freund's incoplate adjuvans and used for immunization of adult mouse Balb/c in 10-day intervals for four times. Serum was prepared from blood incubated in room temperature for 3 hours and centrifuged (2500 rpm, 20 min, 4°C). Supernatant was removed and used in experiments.

6.10 Immunodetection

Membrane with immobilized proteins was washed two times for 10 min in PBS, blocked 1 hour in 3% non-fat milk in PBST (PBS with 0.05% Tween-20), washed three times for 10 min in PBST and incubated for 2 hours with mouse serum (diluted from 1:20 to 1:1000 in PBST). Then, it was washed again in PBST (three times for 10 min), incubated for 1 hour with secondary antibody GAM/Px (Sigma) diluted 1:1000 in PBST and washed by PBST (once for 10 min, twice for 5 min). Hydrogen peroxide was used as a substrate and 4-chloro-1-naftol as a chromogen.

6.11 Immunoprecipitation

One ml of homogenized ticks was combined with 50 μ l of antibody and the reaction was incubated overnight at 4°C. One hundred μ l of immobilized protein A/G resin slurry (Pierce, USA) was added to a microcentrifuge tube and briefly centrifuged to pellet resin; the supernatant was discarded. For two times repetition, 0.5 ml of IP buffer (25mM Tris, 150mM NaCl, pH 7.2) was added, briefly centrifuged and supernatant discarded. The antigen-antibody complex was added to the resin and incubated with gentle mixing for 2.5 hours at room temperature. 0.5 ml of IP buffer was added, briefly centrifuged and supernatant discarded. This step was repeated two times. To elute the immune complex, 50 μ l of elution buffer (0.15M glycine•HCl buffer, pH 2.7) was added and incubated for 5 minutes, tube was briefly centrifuged and the supernatant collected. This step was repeated and the two supernatant fractions were combined. Eluate was adjusted to physiological pH by adding 10 μ l of the neutralization buffer (1M Tris, pH 9) per 100 μ l of eluate. The immunoprecipitation products were used directly for SDS-PAGE.

6.12 Antimicrobial activity determination

Double-layer technique was used to estimate antimicrobial activity of the recombinant proteins (Čeřovský *et al.* 2008). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 6 hours with repeated checking for the growth of bacteria (*Escherichia coli*, *Micrococcus luteus*).

6.13 In vitro binding assay I – bacteria and recombinant proteins

Protocol of Ichikawa et al. (1998) was used in the experiment. Bacteria (*E. coli, M. luteus*) were grown to late log phase, collected by centrifugation (2,500g, 10 min), and suspended in 1/10 of the original volume with 0.9% NaCl. An equal volume of 20% acetic acid was added, and the bacteria were incubated at room temperature for 5 min. Five volumes of 1 M Tris-HCl (pH 8.2) were added, and the bacteria were spined (2,500g, 10 min) and resuspended in one-tenth of the original culture volume in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.2). An equal volume of recombinant D-Al protein in concentration of 100 μ g/ml was added to the bacterial suspension and incubated at room temperature for 3 or 30 min. The suspension was centrifuged for 2 min at 10,000g, the pellet was washed twice in water and then suspended in PBS and sample buffer for electrophoresis. Sample was denatured and run on SDS-PAGE.

6.14 In vitro binding assay II – bacteria and tick cell line

Selected microorganisms (*M. luteus, E. coli, C. albicans, B. burgdorferi*) were inactivated at 100°C for 5 min and cooled down. They, in the concertation of 10^8 cells/ml, were added to tick cell line IRE/CTMV 19 in the concentration of $5*10^6$ cells/ml and incubated for 18 hours. Then, RNA of the cell mixture was isolated and RT-PCR performed to detect expression of studied genes.

6.15 IgE binding reactivity

Purified recombinant Der-p2 allergen-like protein was diluted to 10 μ g/ml in PBS. Each well of a 96-well microplate (Maxisorp F96 MicroWell Plate, Nunc, Denmark) was coated with 50 μ l of the recombinant protein and incubated at 4°C overnight. All further incubations were performed at room temperature with at least five washes with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST) between them. Fifty microlitres of human biotinylated IgE (BioPorto Diagnostic, Denmark) in different concentrations (0.1, 1, 3, 5, 10 μ g/ml) were added into a microplate and incubated for 1 hour. Then, 50 μ l of streptavidin-peroxidase (Sigma, USA) diluted 1:1000 in distilled water was added to each well and incubated for 30 min. Orthophenylenediamine (Sigma, USA) with hydrogen peroxide (50 μ l/well) were used as a substrate for the enzymatic

colour reaction. The reaction was performed in the dark for 15 minutes and stopped by the addition of 50 μ l of 1 M H₂SO₄. Optical densities were measured at 490 nm with an ELISA spectrophotometer (Multiskan MCC 340, Labsystems Oy, Finland). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and a recombinant protein produced in prokaryotic expression system were used as controls.

6.16 Statistical analysis

The significance of any differences obtained between single protein groups and used different antibody concentrations was evaluated by the factorial ANOVA with a subsequent Tukey HSD test (Statistica 6.0, Statsoft, Inc. Tulsa, USA). The presented results represent three similar experiments.

6.17 Preparation of in situ hybridization (ISH) probes

A specific antisense DNA probe was prepared using the PCR digoxigenin (DIG) Probe Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science, Germany). The cDNA amplified using ML2F/ML2R and AL2F/AL2R primers served as template for probe synthesis. The DIG labeled probe was produced by asymmetric PCR from 300 ng of the obtained cDNA and gene-specific reverse primer (ML2R or AL2R) in a final reaction volume of 25 μ l. The initial denaturation step (95° C for 2 min) was followed by ten cycles of 95° C for 30 s, 52° C for 30 s, and 72° C for 1.5 min, and subsequently by 11 cycles of 94° C for 30 s, 52° C for 30 s, and 72° C for 2.5 min. The DIG-labeled probe was gel purified and stored at -20° C. The specific sense probe was synthesized using the same protocol but with the ML2F or AL2F primer.

6.18 In situ hybridization (ISH)

Dissected tick organs were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4° C overnight and subjected to ISH as previously described by (Kim et al. 2006). The color reaction was observed under a binocular microscope and stopped by repeated washes in PBS (phosphate buffered saline) with 0.2% Tween 20, pH 7.2 (PBST) followed by a wash in PBS:glycerol (1:1) for 20 min.

Stained tissues were mounted in 100% glycerol on glass slides and observed under a fluorescence microscope Olympus BX51 with Nomarski DIC optics and attached Olympus DP70 digital camera (Olympus, Japan). Tissues

from five to ten ticks were studied for each feeding stage and used for hybridization. Two negative controls were performed. The hybridization step was omitted in one of the controls, and the specific sense probe instead of the antisense probe was used in the protocol. Images were processed using with the program Paint.NET v3.5.1.

7. References

Abdul-Hammed, M., Breiden, B., Adebayo, M.A., Babalola, J. O., Schwarzmann, G., Sandhoff, K. 2010. Role of endosomal membrane lipids and NPC2 in cholesterol transfer and membrane fusion. J. Lipid Res. 51, 1747–1760.

Anatriello, E., Ribeiro, J.M.C., de Miranda-Santos, I.K.F., Brandão, L.G., Anderson, J.M., Valenzuela, J.G., Maruyama, S.R., Silva, J.S., Ferreira, B.R. 2010. An insight into the sialotranscriptome of the brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. BMC Genomics 11, 450.

Anderson, J.M., Sonenshine, D.E., Valenzuela, J.G. 2008. Exploring the mialome of ticks: an annotated catalogue of midgut transcripts from the hard tick, *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae). BMC Genomics 9, 552.

Barker, S.C., Murrell, A. 2004. Systematics and evolution of ticks with a list of valid genus and species names. Parasitol. 129, S15-S36.

Beaudouin, E., Kanny, G., Guerin, B., Guerin, L., Plenat, F., Moneret-Vautrin, D.A. 1997. Unusual manifestations of hypersensitivity after a tick bite: report of two cases. Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol. 79, 43-46.

Beaufays, J., Adam, B., Menten-Dedoyart, C., Fievez, L., Grosjean, A., Decrem, Y., Prévôt, P.-P., Santini, S., Brasseur, R., Brossard, M., Vanhaeverbeek, M., Bureau, F., Heinen, E., Lins, L., Vanhamme, L., Godfroid, E. 2008. Ir-LBP, an *Ixodes ricinus* tick salivary LTB4binding lipocalin, interferes with host neutrophil function. Plos One 3, e3987.

Borovičková, B., Hypša, V. 2005. Ontogeny of tick hemocytes: a comparative analysis of *Ixodes ricinus* and *Ornithodoros moubata*. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 35, 317–333.

Brouqui, P., Bacellar, F., Baranton, G., Birtles, R.J., Bjoërsdorff, A., Blanco, J.R., Caruso, G., Cinco, M., Fournier, P.E., Francavilla, E., Jensenius, M., Kazar, J., Laferl H., Lakos, A., Lotric Furlan, S., Maurin, M., Oteo, J.A., Parola, P., Perez-Eid, C., Peter, O., Postic, D., Raoult, D., Tellez, A., Tselentis, Y., Wilske, B. 2004. Guidelines for the diagnosis of tick-borne bacterial diseases in Europe. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 10, 1108-1132.

Burešová, V., Franta, Z., Kopáček, P. 2006. A comparison of *Chryseobacterium indologenes* pathogenicity to the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* and hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 93, 96–104.

Burešová, V., Hajdušek, O., Franta, Z., Sojka, D., Kopáček, P. 2009. IrAM-An alpha2macroglobulin from the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*: characterization and function in phagocytosis of a potential pathogen *Chryseobacterium indologenes*. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33, 489-498.

Burešová, V., Hajdušek, O., Franta, Z., Loosová, G., Grunclová, L., Levashina, E.A., Kopáček, P. 2011. Functional genomics of tick thioester-containing proteins reveal the ancient origin of the complement system. J. Innate Immun. 3, 623-630.

Ceraul, S.M., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. 2002. Resistance of the tick *Dermacentor variabilis* following challenge with the bacterium *Escherichia coli*. J. Med. Entomol. 39, 376-383.

Chang, T.-Y., Reid, P.C., Sugii, S., Ohgami, N., Cruz, J.C., Chang, C.C.Y. 2005. Niemann-Pick type C disease and intracellular cholesterol trafficking. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 20917-20920.

Chen, F. W., Gordon, R.E., Ioannou, Y.A. 2005. NPC1 late endosomes contain elevated levels of non-esterified ('free') fatty acids and an abnormally glycosylated form of the NPC2 protein. Biochem. J. 390, 549-561.

Cheng, P.H., Mans, B.J., Neitz, A.W., Gaspar, A.R. 2010. Savicalin, a lipocalin from hemocytes of the soft tick, *Ornithodoros savignyi*. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 52, 313-326.

Cheruku, S., Xu, Z., Dutia, R., Lobel, P., Storch, J. 2006. Mechanism of cholesterol transfer from the Niemann-Pick type C2 protein to model membranes supports a role in lysosomal cholesterol transport. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 31594–31604.

Chikh, K., Vey, S., Simonot, C., Vanier, M.T., Millat, G. 2004. Niemann–Pick type C disease: importance of N-glycosylation sites for function and cellular location of the NPC2 protein. Mol. Genet. Metab. 83, 220–230.

Chrudimská, T., Chrudimský, T., Golovchenko, M., Rudenko, N., Grubhoffer, L. 2010. New defensins from hard and soft ticks: Similarities, differences, and phylogenetic analyses. Vet. Parasitol.167, 298–303.

Chrudimská, T., Slaninová, J., Rudenko, N., Růžek, D., Grubhoffer, L. 2011. Functional characterization of two defensin isoforms of the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Parasit. Vectors 4, 63.

Chua, K.Y., Doyle, C.R., Simpson, R.J., Turner, K.J., Stewart, G.A., Thomas, W.R. 1990. Isolation of cDNA coding for the major mite allergen Der p II by IgE plaque immunoassay. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 91, 118-123.

Coleman, J.L., Gebbia, J.A., Piesman, J., Degen, J.L., Bugge, T.H., Benach, J.L. 1997. Plasminogen is required for efficient dissemination of *B. burgdorferi* in ticks and for enhancement of spirochetemia in mice. Cell 89, 1111-1119.

Derewenda, U., Li, J., Derewenda, Z., Dauter, Z., Mueller, G.A., Rule, G.S., Benjamin, D.C. 2002. The crystal structure of a major dust mite allergen Der p 2, and its biological implications. J. Mol. Biol. 318, 189–197.

Divanovic, S., Trompette, A., Atabani, S.F., Madan, R., Golenbock, D.T., Visintin, A., Finberg, R.W., Tarakhovsky, W., Vogel, S.N., Belkaid, Y., Kurt-Jones, E.A., Karp, C.L. 2005. Negative regulation of TLR4 signaling by RP105. Nat. Immunol. 6, 571–578.

Divanovic, S., Trompette, A., Petiniot, L.K., Allen, J.L., Flick, L.M., Belkaid, Y., Madan, R., Haky, J.J., Karp, C.L. 2007. Regulation of TLR4 signaling and the host interface with pathogens and danger: the role of RP105. J. Leukoc. Biol. 82, 265–271.

Donoso-Mantke, O., Karan, L.S., Růžek, D. 2011. Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus: A General Overview. In Flavivirus encephalitis. Ed. Růžek, D. InTech, Rijeka. ISBN 978-953-307-669-0.

Dziarski, R., Gupta, D. 2006. The peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs). Genome Biol. 7, 232.

Eggenberger, L.R., Lamoreaux, W. J., Coons, L.B. 1990. Hemocytic encapsulation of implants in the tick *Dermacentor variabilis*. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 9, 279-287.

Eriksson, T.L., Johansson, E., Whitley, P., Schmidt, M., Elsayed, S., van Hage-Hamsten, M. 1998. Cloning and characterisation of a group II allergen from the dust mite *Tyrophagus putrescentiae*. Eur. J. Biochem. 251, 443-447.

Fernández-Soto, P., Dávila, I., Laffond, E., Lorente, F., Encinas-Grandes, A., Pérez-Sánchez, R. 2001. Tick-bite-induced anaphylaxis in Spain. Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 95, 97-103.

Flower, D.R. 1996. The lipocalin protein family: structure and function. Biochem. J. 318, 1-14.

Fogaça, A.C., Lorenzini, D.M., Kaku, L.M., Esteves, E., Bulet, P., Daffre, S. 2004. Cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptides of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*: isolation, structural characterization and tissue expression profile. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 28, 191–200.

Fogaça, A.C., Almeida, I.C., Eberlin, M.N., Tanaka, A.S., Bulet, P., Daffre, S. 2006. Ixodidin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from the hemocytes of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus* with inhibitory activity against serine proteinases. Peptides 27, 667–674.

Francischetti, I.M.B., Pham, V.M., Mans, B.J., Andersen, J.F., Mather, T.N., Lane, R.S., Ribeiro, J.M.C. 2005. The transcriptome of the salivary glands of the female western black-legged tick *Ixodes pacificus* (Acari: Ixodidae). Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35, 1142–1161.

Francischetti, I.M.B., Mans, B.J., Meng, Z., Gudderra, N., Veenstra, T.D., Pham, V.M., Ribeiro, J.M. 2008a. An insight into the sialome of the soft tick, *Ornithodoros parkeri*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38, 1-21.

Francischetti, I.M.B., Meng, Z., Mans, B.J., Gudderra, N., Hall, M., Veenstra, T.D., Pham, V.M., Kotsyfakis, M., Ribeiro, J.M.C. 2008b. An insight into the salivary transcriptome and proteome of the soft tick and vector of epizootic bovine abortion, *Ornithodoros coriaceus*. J. Proteomics 71, 493–512.

Francischetti, I.M., Sá-Nunes, A., Mans, B.J., Santos, I.M., Ribeiro, J.M.C. 2009. The role of saliva in tick feeding. Front. Biosci. 14, 2051-2088.

Friedland, N., Liou, H.-L., Lobel, P., Stock, A.M. 2003. Structure of a cholesterol-binding protein deficient in Niemann-Pick type C2 disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 2512-2517.

de la Fuente, J., Maritz-Olivier, C., Naranjo, V., Ayoubi, P., Nijhof, A.M., Almazán, C., Canales, M., Pérez de la Lastra, J.M., Galindo, R.C., Blouin, E.F., Gortazar, C., Jongejan, F., Kocan, K.M. 2008. Evidence of the role of tick subolesin in gene expression. BMC Genomics 9, 372.

Fujimoto, T., Yamazaki, S., Eto-Kimura, A., Takeshige, K., Muta, T. 2004. The aminoterminal region of Toll-like receptor 4 is essential for binding to MD-2 and receptor translocation to the cell surface. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 47431–47437.

Gafvelin, G., Johansson, E., Lundin, A., Smith, A.M., Chapman, M.D., Benjamin, D.C., Derewenda, U., van Hage-Hamsten, M. 2001. Cross-reactivity studies of a new group 2 allergen from the dust mite *Glycyphagus domesticus*, Gly d 2, and group 2 allergens from *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*, *Lepidoglyphus destructor*, and *Tyrophagus putrescentiae* with recombinant allergens. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 107, 511-518.

Gangloff, M., Gay, N.J. 2004. MD-2: the Toll 'gatekeeper' in endotoxin signalling. Trends Biochem. Sci. 29, 294-300.

Gauci, M., Loh, R.K.S., Stone, B.F., Thong, Y.H. 1989. Allergic reactions to the Australian paralysis tick, *Ixodes holocyclus*: diagnostic evaluation by skin test and radioimmunoassay. Clin. Exp. Allergy 19, 279–283.

Gritsun, S., Lashkevich, V.A., Gould, E.A. 2003. Tick-borne encephalitis. Antiviral Res. 129-146.

Gruber, A., Manček, M., Wagner, H., Kirschning, C.J., Jerala, R. 2004. Structural model of MD-2 and functional role of its basic amino acid clusters involved in cellular lipopolysaccharide recognition. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 28475–28482.

Grubhoffer, L., Vereš, J., Dusbábek, F. 1991. Lectins as the molecular factors of recognition and defence reactions of ticks. In: Modern Acarology. Vol. 2. Eds. Dusbábek, F., Bukva, V. Academia Prague and SPB Academic, The Hague.

Grubhoffer, L., Golovchenko, M., Vancová, M., Zacharovová-Slavíčková, K., Rudenko, N., Oliver, Jr., J.H. 2005. Lyme borreliosis: insights into tick-/host-borrelia relations. Folia Parasitol. 52, 279–294.

Grunclová, L., Fouquier, H., Hypša, V., Kopáček, P. 2003. Lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: the sequence, phylogeny and post-feeding regulation. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 27, 651–660.

Gudderra, N. P., Sonenshine, D.E., Apperson, C.S., Roe, R.M. 2002. Hemolymph proteins in ticks. J. Insect Physiol. 48, 269–278.

Hama, Y., Li, Y.-T., Li, S.-C. 1997. Interaction of GM2 activator protein with glycosphingolipids. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 2828–2833.

Hilger, C., Bessot, J.-C., Hutt, N., Grigioni, F., de Blay, F., Pauli, G., Hentges, F. 2005. IgE-mediated anaphylaxis caused by bites of the pigeon tick *Argas reflexus*: Cloning and expression of the major allergen Arg r 1. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 115, 617–622.

Hillyard, P.D. 1996. Ticks of North-West Europe. Eds. Barnes, R.S.K., Crothers, J.H. Field Studies Council, Shrewsbury, England. ISBN 1851532579.

Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Grubhoffer, L. 2010a. Der-p2 (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) allergen-like protein from the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus* – a novel member of ML (MD-2-related lipid-recognition) domain protein family. Parasitol. 14, 1-11.

Horáčková, J., Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Havlíková, S., Grubhoffer, L. 2010b. IrML - a gene encoding a new member of the ML protein family from the hard tick, *Ixodes ricinus*. J. Vector Ecol. 35, 410-418.

Horn, M., Nussbaumerová, M., Šanda, M., Kovářová, K., Srba, J., Franta, Z., Sojka, D., Bogyo, M., Caffrey, C.R., Kopáček, P., Mareš, M. 2009. Hemoglobin digestion in bloodfeeding ticks: mapping a multipeptidase pathway by functional proteomics. Chem. Biol.16, 1053-1063.

Hoyne, G.F., Callow, M.G., Kuo, M.-C., Thomas, W.R. 1993. Characterization of T-cell responses to the house dust mite allergen Der p II in mice. Evidence for major and cryptic epitopes. Immunol. 78, 65-73.

Huang, X., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Nakamura-Tsuruta, S., Hirabayashi, J., Fujisaki, K. 2007a. Molecular characterization and oligosaccharide-binding properties of a galectin from the argasid tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Glycobiol. 17, 313-323.

Huang, X., Warren, J.T., Buchanan, J., Gilbert, L.I., Scott, M.P. 2007b. *Drosophila Niemann-Pick Type C-2* genes control sterol homeostasis and steroid biosynthesis: a model of human neurodegenerative disease. Development 134, 3733-3742.

Ichikawa, S., Hatanaka, H., Yuuki, T., Iwamoto, N., Kojima, S., Nishiyama, C., Ogura, K., Okumura, Y., Inagaki, F. 1998. Solution Structure of Der f 2, the Major Mite Allergen for Atopic Diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 356-360.

Ichikawa, S., Takai, T., Inoue, T., Yuuki, T., Okumura, Y., Ogura, K., Inagaki, F., Hatanaka, H. 2005. NMR study on the major mite allergen Der f 2: Its refined tertiary structure, epitopes for monoclonal antibodies and characteristics shared by ML protein group members. J. Biochem. 137, 255–263.

Ichikawa, S., Takai, T., Yashiki, T., Takahashi, S., Okumura, K., Ogawa, H., Kohda, D., Hatanaka, H. 2009. Lipopolysaccharide binding of the mite allergen Der f 2. Genes Cells 14, 1055–1065.

Infante, R., Wang, M.L., Radhakrishnan, A., Kwon, H.J., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L. 2008. NPC2 facilitates bidirectional transfer of cholesterol between NPC1 and lipid bilayers, a step in cholesterol egress from lysosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 15287–15292.

Inohara, N., Nuñez, G. 2002. ML – a conserved domain involved in innate imunity and lipid metabolism. Trends Bioch. Sci. 27, 219-221.

Inoue, N., Hanada, K., Tsuji, N., Igarashi, I., Nagasawa, H., Mikami, T., Fujisaki, K. 2001. Characterization of phagocytic hemocytes in *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Ixodidae). J. Med. Entomol. 38, 514-9.

Jacot, S. 2003. Etude des genes exprimés au cours du repas sanguindans l'intestin de la tique *Ixodes ricinus*. Thesis. Université de Neuchâtel.

Johannessen, B.R., Skov, L.K., Kastrup, J.S., Kristensen, O., Bolwig, C., Larsen, J.N., Spangfort, M., Lund, K., Gajhede, M. 2005. Structure of the house dust mite allergen Der f 2: Implications for function and molecular basis of IgE cross-reactivity. FEBS Lett. 579, 1208–1212.

Johns, R., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. 2000. Response of the tick *Dermacentor* variabilis to hemocoelic inoculation of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. J. Med. Entomol. 37, 265-270.

Johns, R., Ohnishi, J., Broadwater, A., Sonenshine, D.E., De Silva, A.M., Hynes, W.L. 2001. Contrasts in tick innate immune responses to *Borrelia burgdorferi* challenge: immunotolerance in *Ixodes scapularis* versus immunocompetence in *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae). J. Med. Entomol. 38, 99-107.

Kadota, K., Satoh, E., Ochiai, M., Inoue, N., Tsuji, N., Igarashi, I., Nagasawa, H., Mikami, T., Claveria, F.G., Fujisaki, K. 2002. Existence of phenol oxidase in the argasid tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Parasitol. Res. 88, 781–784.

Kaiser, L., Gafvelin, G., Johansson, E., van Hage-Hamsten, M., Rasool, O. 2003. Lep d 2 polymorphisms in wild and cultured *Lepidoglyphus destructor* mites. Eur. J. Biochem. 270, 646–653.

Kawasaki, K., Nogawa, H., Nishijima, M. 2003. Identification of mouse MD-2 residues important for forming the cell surface TLR4-MD-2 complex recognized by anti-TLR4-MD-2 antibodies, and for conferring LPS and taxol responsiveness on mouse TLR4 by alanine-scanning mutagenesis. J. Immunol. 170, 413–420.

Kim, H.M., Park, B.S., Kim, J.-I., Kim, S.E., Lee, J., Oh, S.C., Enkhbayar, P., Matsushima, N., Lee, H., Yoo, O.J., Lee, J.-O. 2007. Crystal structure of the TLR4-MD-2 complex with bound endotoxin antagonist eritoran. Cell 130, 906–917.

Kirchhoff, C., Osterhoff, C., Young, L. 1996. Molecular cloning and characterization of HE1, a major secretory protein of the human epididymis. Biol. Reprod. 54, 847-856.

Klein, A., Amigo, L., Retamal, M.J., Morales, M.G., Miquel, J.F., Rigotti, A., Zanlungo, S. 2006. NPC2 is expressed in human and murine liver and secreted into bile: potential implications for body cholesterol homeostasis. Hepatology 43, 126-133.

Ko, D. C., Binkley, J., Sidow, A., Scott, M. P. 2003. The integrity of a cholesterol-binding pocket in Niemann–Pick C2 protein is necessary to control lysosome cholesterol levels. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 2518-2525.

Kongsuwan, K., Josh, P., Zhu, Y., Pearson, R., Gough, J., Colgrave, M.L. 2010. Exploring the midgut proteome of partially fed female cattle tick (*Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus*). J. Insect Physiol. 56, 212-226.

Konnai, S., Nishikado, H., Yamada, S., Imamura, S., Ito, T., Onuma, M., Murata, S., Ohashi, K. 2011. Molecular identification and expression analysis of lipocalins from blood feeding taiga tick, *Ixodes persulcatus* Schulze. Exp. Parasitol. 127, 467-474.

Kopp, E., Medzhitov, R. 2003. Recognition of microbial infection by Toll-like receptors. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 15, 396–401.

Kovář, V., Kopáček, P., Grubhoffer, L. 2000. Isolation and characterization of Dorin M, a lectin from plasma of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 30, 195–205.

Laemmli, U.K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227, 680-685.

Lagares, A., Puerta, L., Caraballo, L. 2002. El polimorfismo en los alergenos. Biomédica 22, 51-62.

Lai, R., Lomas, L.O., Jonczy, J., Turner, P.C., Rees, H.H. 2004a. Two novel non-cationic defensin-like antimicrobial peptides from haemolymph of the female tick, *Amblyomma hebraeum*. Biochem. J. 379, 681–685.

Lai, R., Takeuchi, H., Lomas, L.O., Jonczy, J., Rigden, D.J., Rees, H.H., Turner, P.C. 2004b. A new type of antimicrobial protein with multiple histidines from the hard tick, *Amblyomma hebraeum*. FASEB J. 18, 1447-1449.

Larsen, L.B., Ravn, P., Boisen, A., Berglund, L., Petersen, T.E. 1997. Primary structure of EPV20, a secretory glycoprotein containing a previously uncharacterized type of domain. Eur. J. Biochem. 243, 437-441.

Lauer, S., Kunde, Y.A., Apodaca, T.A., Goldstein, B., Hong-Geller, E. 2009. Soluble MD2 increases TLR4 levels on the epithelial cell surface. Cell. Immunol. 255, 8–16.

Lemieux, M.J., Mark, B.L., Cherney, M.M., Withers, S.G., Mahuran, D.J., James, M.N.G. 2006. Crystallographic structure of human β -hexosaminidase A: Interpretation of Tay-Sachs mutations and loss of GM2 ganglioside hydrolysis. J. Mol. Biol. 359, 913–929.

Liou, H.-L., Dixit, S.S., Xu, S., Tint, G.S., Stock, A.M., Lobel, P. 2006. NPC2, the protein deficient in Niemann-Pick C2 disease, consists of multiple glycoforms that bind a variety of sterols. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 36710–36723.

Liu, J.-P. 2009. New functions of cholesterol binding proteins. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 303, 1–6.

Liu, Z., Liu, H., Liu, X., Wu, X. 2008. Purification and cloning of a novel antimicrobial peptide from salivary glands of the hard tick, *Ixodes sinensis*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 149, 557–561.

Loosová, G., Jindrák, L., Kopáček, P. 2001. Mortality caused by experimental infection with the yeast *Candida haemulonii* in the adults of *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acarina: Argasidae). Folia Parasitol. 48, 149-153.

Lu, X., Che, Q., Lv, Y., Wang, M., Lu, Z., Feng, F., Liu, J., Yu, H. 2010. A novel defensin-like peptide from salivary glands of the hard tick, *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. Protein Sci. 19, 392-397.

Mahuran, D.J. 1998. The GM2 activator protein, its roles as a co-factor in GM2 hydrolysis and as a general glycolipid transport protein. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1393, 1-18.

Manček Keber, M., Gradišar, H., Jerala, R. 2005. MD-2 and Der p 2 – a tale of two cousins or distant relatives? J. Endotoxin Res.11, 186-192.

Mans, B.J., Louw, A.I., Neitz, A.W.H. 2003. The major tick salivary gland proteins and toxins from the soft tick, *Ornithodoros savignyi*, are part of the tick lipocalin family: Implications for the origins of tick toxicoses. Mol. Biol. Evol. 20, 1158–1167.

Mans, B.J., Ribeiro, J.M.C., Andersen, J.F. 2008. Structure, function, and evolution of biogenic amine-binding proteins in soft ticks. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 18721–18733.

Marchler-Bauer, A., Lu, S., Anderson, J.B., Chitsaz, F., Derbyshire, M.K., DeWeese-Scott, C., Fong, J.H., Geer, L.Y., Geer, R.C., Gonzales, N.R., Gwadz, M., Hurwitz, D.I., Jackson, J.D., Ke, Z., Lanczycki, C.J., Lu, F., Marchler, G.H., Mullokandov, M., Omelchenko, M.V., Robertson, C.L., Song, J.S., Thanki, N., Yamashita, R.A., Zhang, D., Zhang, N., Zheng, C., Bryant, S.H. 2011. CDD: a Conserved Domain Database for the functional annotation of proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 39, D225-9.

Martin, D.R., Cox, N.R., Morrison, N.E., Kennamer, D.M., Peck, S.L., Dodson, A.N., Gentry, A.S., Griffin, B, Rolsma, M.D., Baker, H.J. 2005. Mutation of the GM2 activator protein in a feline model of GM2 gangliosidosis. Acta Neuropathol. 110, 443–450.

Materna, J., Daniel, M., Metelka, L., Harčarik, R. 2007. Distribution, density, and development of the tick *Ixodes ricinus* in mountainous areas influenced by climate changes (Krkonoše Mts., Czech Republic). IX International Jena symposium on tick-borne diseases.

McGuinness, D.H., Dehal, P.K., Pleass, R.J. 2003. Pattern recognition molecules and innate immunity to parasites. Trends Parasitol. 19, 312-319.

Medzhitov, R., Janeway, Jr., C. 2000. The Toll receptor family and microbial recognition. Trends Microbiol. 8, 452–456.

Michel, T., Reichart, J.-M., Hoffman, J.A., Royet, J. 2001. *Drosophila* Toll is activated by Gram-positive bacteria through a circulating peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature 414, 756-759.

Miura, Y., Shimazu, R., Miyake, K., Akashi, S, Ogata, H., Yamashita, Y., Narisawa, Y., Kimoto, M. 1998. RP105 is associated with MD-1 and transmits an activation signal in human B cells. Blood 92, 2815-2822.

Miyake, K., Shimazu, R., Kondo, J., Niki, T., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Yamashita, Y., Miura, Y., Kimoto M. 1998. Mouse MD-1, a molecule that is physically associated with RP105 and positively regulates its expression. J. Immunol. 161, 1348-1353.

Miyake, K. 2003. Innate recognition of lipopolysaccharide by CD14 and toll-like receptor 4-MD-2: unique roles for MD-2. Int. Immunopharmacol. 3, 119–128.

Mueller, G.A., Smith, A.M., Williams, Jr., D.C., Hakkaart, G.A.J., Aalberse, R.C., Chapman, M.D., Rule, G.S., Benjamin, D.C. 1997. Expression and secondary structure determination by NMR methods of the major house dust mite allergen Der p 2. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 26893–26898.

Mueller, G.A., Benjamin, D.C., Rule, G.S. 1998. Tertiary structure of the major house dust mite allergen Der p 2: Sequential and structural homologies. Biochemistry 37, 12707-12714.

Mullen, G.E.D., Kennedy, M.N., Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Leifer, C.A., Davies, D.R., Segal, D.M. 2003. The role of disulfide bonds in the assembly and function of MD-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 3919-3924.

Nakajima, Y., van der Goes van Naters-Yasui, A., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. 2001. Two isoforms of a member of the arthropod defensin family from the soft tick, *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31, 747–751.

Nakajima, Y., van der Goes van Naters-Yasui, A., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. 2002a. Antibacterial peptide defensin is involved in midgut immunity of the soft tick, *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Mol. Biol. 11, 611–618.

Nakajima, Y., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. 2002b. Involvement of antibacterial peptide defensin in tick midgut defense. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 28, 135–140.

Nakajima, Y., Saido-Sakanaka, H., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. 2003. Up-regulated humoral immune response in the soft tick, *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). Parasitol. Res. 91, 476–481.

Nakamura, S.-I., Akisue, T., Jinnai, H., Hitomi, T., Sarkar, S., Miwa, N., Okada, T., Yoshida, K., Kuroda, S., Kikkawa, U., Nishizuka, Y. 1998. Requirement of GM2 ganglioside activator for phospholipase D activation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 12249–12253.

Nakazawa, T., Takai, T., Hatanaka, H., Mizuuchi, E., Nagamune, T., Okumura, K., Ogawa, H. 2005. Multiple-mutation at a potential ligand-binding region decreased allergenicity of a mite allergen Der f 2 without disrupting global structure. FEBS Lett. 579, 1988–1994.

Naureckiene, S., Sleat, D.E., Lackland, H., Fensom, A., Vanier, M.T., Wattiaux, R., Jadot, M., Lobel, P. 2000. Identification of *HE1* as the second gene of Niemann-Pick C disease. Science 290, 2298.

Nishiyama, C., Fukada, M., Usui, Y., Iwamoto, N., Yuuki, T., Okumura, Y., Okudaira, H. 1995. Analysis of the IgE-epitope of Der f 2, a major mite allergen, by *in vitro* mutagenesis. Mol. Immunol. 32, 1021-1029.

O'Brien, R.M., Thomas, W.R., Nicholson, I., Lambs, J.R., Tait, B.D. 1995. An immunogenetic analysis of the T-cell recognition of the major house dust mite allergen Der p 2: identification of high- and low-responder HLA-DQ alleles and localization of T-cell epitopes. Immunol. 86, 176-182.

Ohto, U., Fukase, K., Miyake, K., Satow, Y. 2007. Crystal structures of human MD-2 and its complex with antiendotoxic lipid IVa. Science 316, 1632-1634.

Okamura, N., Kiuchi, S., Tamba, M., Kashima, T., Hiramoto, S., Baba, T., Dacheux, F., Dacheux, J.-L., Sugita, Y., Jin, Y.-Z. 1999. A porcine homolog of the major secretory protein of human epididymis, HE1, specifically binds cholesterol. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1438, 377-387.

Paesen, G.C., Adams, P.L., Nuttall, P.A., Stuart, D.L. 2000. Tick histamine-binding proteins: lipocalins with a second binding cavity. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1482, 92-101.

Pal, U., Li, X., Wang, T., Montgomery, R.R., Ramamoorthi, N., deSilva, A.M., Bao, F., Yang, X., Pypaert, M., Pradhan, D., Kantor, F.S., Telford, S., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E. 2004. TROSPA, an *Ixodes scapularis* receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi*. Cell 119, 457–468.

Park, B.S., Song, D.H., Kim, H.M., Choi, B.S., Lee, H., Lee, J.-O. 2009. The structural basis of lipopolysaccharide recognition by the TLR4–MD-2 complex. Nature 458, 1191-1196.

Park, G.-M., Lee, S.-M., Lee, I.-Y., Ree, H.-I., Kim, K.-S., Hong, C.-S., Yong, T.-S. 2000. Localization of a major allergen, Der p 2, in the gut and faecal pellets of *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*. Clin. Exp. Allergy 30, 1293-1297.

Patterson, M.C. 2003. A riddle wrapped in a mystery: Understanding Niemann-Pick Disease, type C. Neurologist 9, 301–310.

Pereira, L.S., Oliveira, P.L., Barja-Fidalgo, C., Daffre, S. 2001. Production of reactive oxygen species by hemocytes from the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*. Exp. Parasitol. 99, 66–72.

Piboonpocanun, S., Malainual, N., Jirapongsananuruk, O., Vichyanond, P., Thomas, W.R. 2006. Genetic polymorphisms of major house dust mite allergens. Clin. Exp. Allergy 36, 510–516.

Podboronov, V.M. 1991. Antibacterial protective mechanisms of ixodoid ticks. In: Modern Acarology. Vol. 2. Eds. Dusbábek, F., Bukva, V. Academia Prague and SPB Academic, The Hague.

Re, F., Strominger, J.L. 2002. Monomeric recombinant MD-2 binds Toll-like receptor 4 tightly and confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 23427–23432.

Re, F., Strominger, J.L. 2003. Separate functional domains of human MD-2 mediate Tolllike receptor 4-binding and lipopolysaccharide responsiveness. J. Immunol. 171, 5272–5276.

Record, E., Asther, M., Moukha, S., Marion, D., Burlat, V., Ruel, K., Asther, M. 1998. Localization of a phosphatidylglycerol/phosphatidylinositol transfer protein in *Aspergillus oryzae*. Can. J. Microbiol. 44, 945-953.

Record, E., Moukha, S., Asther, M. 1999. Characterization and expression of the cDNA encoding a new kind of phospholipid transfer protein, the phosphatidylglycerol/phosphatidylinositol transfer protein from *Aspergillus oryzae*: evidence of a putative membrane targeted phospholipid transfer protein in fungi. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1444, 276-282.

Record, E., Moukha, S., Asther, M., Asther, M. 2001. Cloning and expression in phospholipid containing cultures of the gene encoding the specific phosphatidylglycerol/phosphatidylinositol transfer protein from *Aspergillus oryzae*: evidence that the pg/pi-tp is tandemly arranged with the putative 3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase gene. Gene 262, 61-72.

Reginald, K. 2006. Characterization of Der p2, and identification of a paralogue of Der f 2. Thesis. National University of Singapore.

Rego, R.O.M., Hajdušek, O., Kovář, V., Kopáček, P., Grubhoffer, L., Hypša, V. 2005. Molecular cloning and comparative analysis of fibrinogen-related proteins from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* and the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35, 991-1004.

Rego, R.O.M., Kovář, V., Kopáček, P., Weise, C., Man, P., Šauman, I., Grubhoffer, L. 2006. The tick plasma lectin, Dorin M, is a fibrinogen-related molecule. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36, 291–299.

Rigat, B., Wang, W., Leung, A., Mahuran, D.J. 1997. Two mechanisms for the recapture of extracellular GM2 activator protein: evidence for a major secretory form of the protein. Biochem. 36, 8325-8331.

Rittig, M.G., Kuhn, K.H., Dechant, C.A., Gauckler, A., Modolell, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Krause, A., Burmester, G.R. 1996. Phagocytes from both vertebrate and invertebrate species use "coiling" phagocytosis. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 20, 393-406.

Rolla, G., Nebiolo, F., Marsico, P., Guida, G., Bigo, P., Riva, G., Zanotta, S. 2004. Allergy to pigeon tick (*Argas reflexus*) : Demonstration of specific IgE-binding components. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 135, 293–295.

Rouvinen, J., Janis, J., Laukkanen, M.-L., Jylha, S., Niemi, M., Paivinen, T., Makinen-Kiljunen, S., Haahtela, T., Soderlund, H., Takkinen, K. 2010. Transient dimers of allergens. Plos One 5, e9037.

Roversi, P., Lissina, O., Johnson, S., Ahmat, N., Paesen, G.C., Ploss, K., Boland, W., Nunn, M.A., Lea, S.M. 2007. The structure of OMCI, a novel lipocalin inhibitor of the complement system. J. Mol. Biol. 369, 784–793.

Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Edwards, M.J., Grubhoffer, L. 2005. Differential expression of *Ixodes ricinus* tick genes by blood feeding or *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection. J. Med. Entomol. 42, 36-41.

Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Grubhoffer, L. 2007. Gene organization of a novel defensin of *Ixodes ricinus*: first annotation of an intron/exon structure in a hard tick defensin gene and first evidence of the occurrence of two isoforms of one member of the arthropod defensin family. Insect Mol. Biol. 16, 501-507.

Rudenko, N., Golovchenko, M., Grubhoffer, L., Oliver, J.H., Jr. 2011. Updates on *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato complex with respect to public health. Ticks Tick Borne Dis. 2, 123-128.

Saito, Y., Konnai, S., Yamada, S., Imamura, S., Nishikado, H., Ito, T., Onuma, M., Ohashi, K. 2009. Identification and characterization of antimicrobial peptide, defensin, in the taiga tick, *Ixodes persulcatus*. Insect Mol. Biol. 18, 531–539.

Sangamnatdej, S., Paesen, G.C., Slovak, M., Nuttall, P.A. 2002. A high affinity serotoninand histamine-binding lipocalin from tick saliva. Insect Mol. Biol. 11, 79–86.

Schmidt, M., Olsson, S., van der Ploeg, I., van Hage-Hamsten, M. 1995. cDNA analysis of the mite allergen Lep d 1 identifies two different isoallergens and variants. FEBS Lett. 370, 11-14.

Schrantz, N., Sagiv, Y., Liu, Y., Savage, P.B., Bendelac, A., Teyton, L. 2007. The Niemann-Pick type C2 protein loads isoglobotrihexosylceramide onto CD1d molecules and contributes to the thymic selection of NKT cells. J. Exp. Med. 204, 841-852.
Shimazu, R., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Nagai, Y., Fukudome, K., Miyake, K., Kimoto, M. 1999. MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysacharide responsiveness on Toll-like Receptor 4. J. Exp. Med. 189, 1777–1782.

Sigal, L. 2001. Lyme disease. Curr. Treatm. Opt. Infect. Dis. 3, 18–29.

Simser, J.A., Macaluso, K.R., Mulenga, A., Azad, A.F. 2004. Immune-responsive lysozymes from hemocytes of the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis* and an embryonic cell line of the Rocky Mountain wood tick, *D. andersoni*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34, 1235–1246.

Smith, A.M., Chapman, M.D. 1997. Localization of antigenic sites on Der p 2 using oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis targeted to predicted surface residues. Clin. Exp. Allergy 27, 593–599.

Smith, W.-A., Hales, B.-J., Jarnicki, A.G., Thomas, W.R. 2001. Allergens of wild house dust mites: Environmental Der p 1 and Der p 2 sequence polymorphisms. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 107, 985-992.

Sonenshine, D.E. 1991. Biology of ticks. Vol. 1. Oxford University Press, New York, USA. ISBN 0-19-505910-7.

Sonenshine, D.E., Lane, R.S., Nicholson, W.L. 2002. Ticks (*Ixodida*). In Medical and Veterinary Entomology. Eds. Mullen, G., Durden, L., San Diego, USA. Academic Press ISBN 012510451-0.

Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. 2008. Molecular characterization and related aspects of the innate immune response in ticks. Front. Biosci. 13, 7046–7063.

Sonenshine, D.E., Bissinger, B.W., Egekwu, N., Donohue, K.V., Khalil, S.M., Roe, R.M. 2011. First transcriptome of the testis-vas deferens-male accessory gland and proteome of the spermatophore from *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae). PLoS One 6, e24711.

Storch, J., Xu, Z. 2009. Niemann–Pick C2 (NPC2) and intracellular cholesterol trafficking. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1791, 671–678.

Stuart, L.M., Ezekowitz, R.A.B. 2005. Phagocytosis: Elegant complexity. Immunity 22, 539–550.

Subramanian, K., Balch, W.E. 2008. NPC1/NPC2 function as a tag team duo to mobilize cholesterol. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 15223–15224.

Suzuki, M., Tanaka, Y., Korematsu, S., Mikami, B., Minato, N. 2006. Crystal structure and some properties of a major house dust mite allergen, Derf 2. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 339, 679–686.

Takai, T., Yuuki, T., Okumura, Y., Mori, A., Okudaira, H. 1997. Determination of the Nand C-terminal sequences required to bind human IgE of the major house dust mite allergen Der f 2 and epitope mapping for monoclonal antibodies. Mol. Immunol. 34, 255-261.

Takai, T., Ichikawa, S., Hatanaka, H., Inagaki, F., Okumura, Y. 2000. Effects of proline mutations in the major house dust mite allergen Der f 2 on IgE-binding and histamine-releasing activity. Eur. J. Biochem. 267, 6650-6656.

Takai, T., Hatanaka, H., Ichikawa, S., Yokota, T., Inagaki, F., Okumura, Y. 2001. Effect of double mutation at two distant IgE-binding sites in the three-dimensional structure of the major house dust mite allergen Der f 2 on the IgE-binding and histamine releasing activity. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 65, 1601-1609.

Tanji, T., Ip, Y.T. 2005. Regulators of the Toll and Imd pathways in the *Drosophila* innate immune response. Trends Immunol. 26, 193-198.

Taylor, D. 2006. Innate immunity in ticks: A review. J. Acarol. Soc. Jpn. 15, 109-127.

Teghanemt, A., Widstrom, R.L., Gioannini, T.L., Weiss, J.P. 2008. Isolation of monomeric and dimeric secreted MD-2. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 21881–21889.

Temeyer, K.B., Soileau, L.C., Pruett, J.H. 2002. Cloning and sequence analysis of a cDNA encoding Pso o II, a mite group II allergen of the sheep scab mite (Acari: Psoroptidae). J. Med. Entomol. 39, 384-391.

Thomas, W.R., Smith W.-A., Hales, B.J., Mills, K.L., O'Brien, R.M. 2002. Characterization and immunobiology of house dust mite allergens. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 129, 1-18.

Trompette, A., Divanovic, S., Visintin, A., Blanchard, C., Hegde, R.S., Madan, R., Thorne, P.S., Wills-Karp, M., Gioannini, T.L., Weiss, J.P., Karp, C.L. 2009. Allergenicity resulting from functional mimicry of a Toll-like receptor complex protein. Nature 457, 585-589.

Uhlíř, J., Grubhoffer, L., Volf, P. 1996. Novel agglutinin in the midgut of the tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Folia Parasitol. 43, 233-239.

Valenzuela, J.G., Francischetti, I.M.B., Pham, V.M., Garfield, M.K., Mather, T.N., Ribeiro, J.M.C. 2002. Exploring the sialome of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J. Exp. Biol. 205, 2843–2864.

Valls, A., Pineda, F., Belver, B., Caballero, T., López Serrano, M.C. 2007. Anaphylactic shock caused by tick (*Rhipicephalus sanguineous*). J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol.17, 279-280.

Van Wye, J.E., Hsu, Y.-P., Terr, A.I., Moss, R.B., Lane, R.S. 1991. Anaphylaxis from a Tick Bite. N. Engl. J. Med. 324, 777-778.

Vanier, M.T. 2010. Niemann-Pick disease type C. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 5, 16.

Vanier, M.T., Millat, G. 2004. Structure and function of the NPC2 protein. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1685, 14–21.

Viriyakosol, S., Tobias, P.S., Kitchens, R.L., Kirkland, T.N. 2001. MD-2 binds to bacterial lipopolysacharide. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 38044–38051.

Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J.A., Segal, D.M. 2001. Secreted MD-2 is a large polymeric protein that efficiently confers lipopolysacharide sensitivity to Toll-like receptor 4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 12156–12161.

Visintin, A., Latz, E., Monks, B.G., Espevik, T., Golenbock, D.T. 2003. Lysines 128 and 132 Enable Lipopolysaccharide Binding to MD-2, Leading to Toll-like Receptor-4 Aggregation and Signal Transduction. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 48313–48320.

Visintin, A., Iliev, D.B., Monks, B.G., Halmen, K.A., Golenbock, D.T. 2006. MD-2. Immunobiol. 211, 437–447.

Wang, H., Nuttall, P.A. 1999. Immunoglobulin-binding proteins in ticks: new target for vaccine development against a blood-feeding parasite. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 56, 286–295.

Waxman, L., Connolly, T.M. 1993. Isolation of an inhibitor selective for collagenstimulated platelet aggregation from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 5445-5449.

Wendeler, M., Werth, N., Maier, T., Schwarzmann, G., Kolter, T., Schoeniger, M., Hoffmann, D., Lemm, T., Saenger, W., Sandhoff, K. 2006. The enzyme-binding region of human GM2-activator protein. FEBS J. 273, 982–991.

Willenborg, M., Schmidt, C.K., Braun, P., Landgrebe, J., von Figura, K., Saftig, P., Eskelinen, E.-L. 2005. Mannose-6-phosphate receptors, Niemann-Pick C2 protein, and lysosomal cholesterol accumulation. J. Lipid Res. 46, 2559–2569.

Wright, C.S., Li, S.-C., Rastinejad, F. 2000. Crystal structure of human GM2-activator protein with a novel β -cup topology. J. Mol. Biol. 304, 411-422.

Wright, C.S., Zhao, Q., Rastinejad, F. 2003. Structural analysis of lipid complexes of GM2-activator protein. J. Mol. Biol. 331, 951–964.

Wright, C.S., Mi, L.-Z., Rastinejad, F. 2004. Evidence for lipid packaging in the crystal structure of the GM2-activator complex with platelet activating factor. J. Mol. Biol. 342, 585–592.

Wu, Y.Y., Lockyer, J.M., Sugiyama, E., Pavlova, N.V., Li, Y.-T., Li, S.-C. 1994. Expression and specificity of human GM2 activator protein. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16276-16283.

Xu, S., Benoff, B., Liou, H.-L., Lobel, P., Stock, A.M. 2007. Structural basis of sterol binding by NPC2, a lysosomal protein deficient in Niemann-Pick type C2 disease. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 23525–23531.

Xu, Z., Farver, W., Kodukula, S., Storch, J. 2008. Regulation of sterol transport between membranes and NPC2. Biochemistry 47, 11134–11143.

Yoon, S., Hong, M., Han, G.W., Wilson, I.A. 2010. Crystal structure of soluble MD-1 and its interaction with lipid IVa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 10990–10995.

Yu, D., Sheng, Z., Xu, X., Li, J., Yang, H., Liu, Z., Rees, H.H., Lai, R. 2006. A novel antimicrobial peptide from salivary glands of the hard tick, *Ixodes sinensis*. Peptides 27, 31–35.

Yuuki, T., Okumura, Y., Ando, T., Yamakawa, H., Suko, M., Haida, M., Okudaira, H. 1990. Cloning and sequencing of cDNAs corresponding to mite major allergen Der f II. Arerugi 39, 557-561.

Yuuki, T., Okumura, Y., Ando, T., Yamakawa, H., Suko, M., Haida, M., Okudaira, H. 1991. Cloning and expression of cDNA coding for the major house dust mite allergen Der f II in *Escherichia coli*. Agric. Biol. Chem. 55, 1233-1238.

Zarghooni, M., Bukovac, S., Tropak, M., Callahan, J., Mahuran, D. 2004. An α -subunit loop structure is required for GM2 activator protein binding by β -hexosaminidase A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 324, 1048–1052.

Zhou, J., Liao, M., Ueda, M., Gong, H., Xuan, X., Fujisaki, K. 2007. Sequence characterization and expression patterns of two defensin-like antimicrobial peptides from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. Peptides 28, 1304–1310.

8. Appendix

		*
Bt_MD-1	1	<i>MKGF<mark>A</mark>AALLIWTLLSPRRAGG<mark>E</mark>AWPTHTACRN<mark>GNLQ</mark>VLYQSCDPLQDFGFSVDQC<mark>A</mark>R</i>
Hs_MD-1	1	<i>MKGF</i> TATLFLWTLIFPSCSGGGGG <mark>K</mark> AWPTHVVCSDSGLEVLYQSCDPLQDFGFSVEKCSK
Mm_MD-1	1	MNGVAAALLVWILTSPSSSDHGSENGWPKHTACNSGGLEVVYQSCDPLQDFGLSIDQCSK
Ss_MD-1	1	MRGF AALLVWTLVSPQGGGGEAWPTHVACRDGNLEVLYQSCDPLQDFGFSVDQCSK
Gg_MD-1	1	<i>TLNVLA LV LCINAS-T</i> EWPTHTVCKEENLEIYYKSCDPQQDFAFSIDRCSD
		* *
Bt_MD-1	58	QLK <mark>PNINIRFGMVLR</mark> EDI <mark>EQ</mark> LFLDVAL <mark>FS</mark> KGLSILNFSYPVCEVDLPKFSFCGRRKGEQI
Hs_MD-1	61	QLK <mark>S</mark> NINIRFGIILR <mark>E</mark> DIKELFLDLALMSQGSSVLNFSYPICE <mark>AA</mark> LPKFSFCGRRKGEQI
Mm_MD-1	61	QI <mark>QS</mark> NLNIRFGIILRQDIRK <mark>LFLDIT</mark> LM <mark>AK</mark> GSSILNYSYPLCE <mark>E</mark> D <mark>Q</mark> PKFSFCGRRKGEQI
Ss_MD-1	58	QLK <mark>PNLH</mark> IRFGIILRQDIRELFLDVAL <mark>F</mark> SQGSSILN <mark>L</mark> SYPICE <mark>A</mark> DLPKFSFCGRRKGEQI
Gg_MD-1	56	VTTHTFDIRAAMVLRQSIKELYAKVDLIINGKTVLSYSETLCGPGLSKLIFCGKKKGEHL
		*
Bt_MD-1	118	YYAGPINNPGFEIP <mark>E</mark> GDYQVLLELYN <mark>Q</mark> D <mark>H</mark> ATVACANATVLYS
Hs_MD-1	121	YYAGPVNNP <mark>E</mark> FTIPQGEYQVLLELYTE <mark>K</mark> RSTVACANATIMCS
Mm_MD-1	121	YYAGPVNNPG <mark>L</mark> DVPQGEYQLLLELYNE <mark>N</mark> RATVACANATV <mark>TS</mark> S
Ss_MD-1	118	YYAGPVNN <mark>L</mark> GFE <mark>F</mark> PTGEYQVLLELYN <mark>Q</mark> DHS <mark>TVACANATVLC</mark> S
Gg_MD-1	116	YYEGPITLGIK <mark>EIPQ</mark> RDYTITARLTNEDRATVACADF <mark>TV</mark> KNYLDY

Fig. 15. Alignment of group I members of ML protein family – MD-1 protein orthologs. Signal peptides are written in italics and conserved cysteine residues are marked by asterisks. *Bos taurus*, NP_001077230 (Bt_MD-1); *Homo sapiens*, AAC98152 (Hs_MD-1); *Mus musculus*, BAA32399 (Mm_MD-1); *Sus scrofa*, BAF48332 (Ss_MD-1); *Gallus gallus*, Q90890 (Gg_MD-1).

Bt_MD-2	1	M <mark>FPFVLFSTLFSSIFTE</mark> PRENRWVCNSSDATVWYDYCDNLKFPVSIRSEPCITLKGSRGI
Cg_MD-2	1	<i>MLPFILFSTL<mark>LPL</mark>IFTE</i> SEQQ <mark>LW</mark> FCNSSDATFSYSYCD <mark>SMKFPFSITAEPCIT</mark> LKGT <mark>N</mark> GF
Ec_MD-2	1	MFSFMLFFTLFSSIFPEPEELRWICNSSDMSIWYTYCDNMKSPISINLEPCIELKGTRGH
Hs_MD-2	1	MLPFL <mark>FFSTLFSSIFTE</mark> AQ <mark>KQ</mark> YWVCNSSDASISYTYCDKM <mark>Q</mark> YPISINVNPCI <mark>E</mark> LKGSKGL
Mm_MD-2	1	<i>MLPFILFS</i> TLLSPILTESEKQQWFCNSSDAIISYSYCDHLKFPISISSEPCIRLRGT <mark>NG</mark> F
Mn_MD-2	1	<u>MLPFLFFSTLFSFIFTEAQKHYWVCNSSDASISYTYCDKMQYPISINVNPCIKLKGSRGL</u>
Oc_MD-2	1	MFTFMVFSTLISSIFTEPGKLHWVCKSADATVSYTYCDNMEIPISINVEPCITLKGTQGL
Pt_MD-2	1	MLPFL <mark>FFSTLFSSIFTE</mark> AQ <mark>KQYWVCNSSDASISYTYCDKMQ</mark> YPISINV <mark>N</mark> PCI <mark>E</mark> LKGSKGL
Rn_MD-2	1	MLPFFLFSTLLSPIFTESERQQWICNSSDAIISYSYCDHMKIPISISSEPCIRLKGTNGF
Ss_MD-2	1	MFPFMLFSTLFSSIFTEPREKMWICNSSDASLWYNYCDDMKFPISVKVEPCVTIKGAKGK
		* *
Bt_MD-2	61	LYLYYIPRRDIRSLYFNIYLSTKSMNFPLRKEFICRGYDDDFSFCRALKGETVNTTIQFS
Cg_MD-2	61	LHIKFIPRRDLKKLYFNL <mark>SINVNS</mark> IEVPTRKEIICHGYDD <mark>N</mark> YSFCKALKGETVNTVVPFS
Ec_MD-2	61	LHMLFVPRRDIK <mark>K</mark> LYFNLYLTMNSLE <mark>F</mark> PMRKEVICRGSDDDYSFCRALKGETVNTTV <mark>S</mark> FS
Hs_MD-2	61	LHIFYIPRRDLKQLYFNLYITVNTM <mark>N</mark> LPKRKEVICRGSDDDYSFCRALKGETVNTTI <mark>S</mark> FS
Mm_MD-2	61	VHVEFIPR <mark>GN</mark> LK <mark>Y</mark> LYFNLFISVNSIELPKRKEVLCHG <mark>H</mark> DDDYSFCRALKGETVNTSIPFS
Mn_MD-2	61	LHIFYIPRRDVKQLYFNLYITVNSM <mark>T</mark> LPKRKEVICRGSDDDYSFCRALKGETVNTTV <mark>S</mark> FS
Oc_MD-2	61	LHIFYIPRRDM <mark>N</mark> QLY <mark>L</mark> NLYISVNSMDLPKRKEIICKGSDD <mark>V</mark> YSFCRALKGETVNTTVPFS
Pt_MD-2	61	LHIFYIPRRDLKQLYFNLYITVNTMNLPKRKEVICRGSDDDYSFCRALKGETVNTTI <mark>S</mark> FS
Rn_MD-2	61	VHVEFIPRGNLKNLYFNLFI <mark>NINSIELPKRKEIVCHG</mark> YDDDYSFCRALKGEAVNTAIPFS
Ss_MD-2	61	LHLYYI <mark>ARRDIQKLY</mark> LNLHISIK <mark>SM</mark> TLPMRKEVICREYGGDYSFCGALKGETVNTTIPFS
		*
Bt_MD-2	121	FRGIRFSKGQYNCITEAIEGNTEEKLFCLNFTIIHYPDFN
Cg_MD-2	121	FKGILFPKGQYRCVAEAIVGDNEEKLFCLNFTIIHHPNVN
Ec_MD-2	121	FRGMRFPKGRYSCIAEAVVGNTEEALFCLNFTLLHQPSFN
Hs_MD-2	121	FKGIKFSKGKYKCVVEAI <mark>S</mark> GSPEEMLFCLEF <mark>V</mark> ILHQPN <mark>S</mark> N
Mm_MD-2	121	FEGILFPKGHYRCVAEAI <mark>AG</mark> DTEEKLFCLNFTIIHRRDVN
Mn_MD-2	121	FKGIKFSKGKYKCVVEAI <mark>S</mark> GSPEEMLFCLEFDIIHQPNSN
Oc_MD-2	121	FKGIRLSKG <mark>O</mark> YRCVVEAI <mark>AG</mark> SAEEMIFCLNFTIIHNPRV-
Pt_MD-2	121	FKGIKFSKGKYKCVVEAI <mark>S</mark> GSPEEMLFCLEF <mark>V</mark> ILHQPNSN
Rn_MD-2	121	FDGILFPKGHHRCVAEAIAGDTEEKLFCLNFTIIHHHNVN
Ss_MD-2	121	FQGIRFSPGQYHCVVEAISGNSEEMLFCLNFTIIH <mark></mark> YSSLN

*

Fig. 16. Alignment of group I members of ML protein – MD-2 protein orthologs. Signal peptides are written in italics and conserved cysteine residues are marked by asterisks. *Bos taurus*, BAC67682 (Bt_MD-2); *Cricetulus griseus*, AAK57984 (Cg_MD-2); *Equus caballus*, AAQ95744 (Ec_MD-2); *Homo sapiens*, BAA78717 (Hs_MD-2); *Mus musculus*, BAA93619 (Mm_MD-2); *Macaca nemestrina*, ADF81051 (Mn_MD-2); *Oryctolagus cuniculus*, AAM50061 (Oc_MD-2); *Pan troglodytes*, NP_001123946 (Pt_MD-2); *Rattus norvegicus*, NP_001019450 (Rn_MD-2); *Sus scrofa*, BAG12311 (Ss_MD-2).



Fig. 17. Alignment of group II members of ML protein family – Niemann-Pick type C2 proteins. Signal peptides are written in italics and conserved cysteine residues are marked by asterisks. *Bos taurus*, P79345 (Bt_Npc2); *Canis familiaris*, Q28895 (Cf_Npc2); *Danio rerio*, Q9DGJ3 (Dr_Npc2); *Homo sapiens*, P61916 (Hs_Npc2); *Macaca fascicularis*, P61918 (Mf_Npc2); *Mus musculus*, AAH07190 (Mm_Npc2); *Pan troglodytes*, P61917 (Pt_Npc); *Rattus norvegicus*, EDL81526 (Rn_Npc2); *Sus scrofa*, O97763 (Ss_Npc2).

Ale_o_2	1	- <u>MK</u> -FVFFALLISXASAGQVRFEDCGHHEVTKLDISQCADGASTCVIHKGKELKLDAEII
Blo_t_2	1	<i>M</i> FK-FICLALLVSYAAACDVKFTDCAHGEVTSLDLSGCSGDHCTIHKGKSFTLKTFFI
Der_f_2	1	MISKILCLSLLVAAVVADQVDVKDCANNEIKKVMVDGCHG-SDPCIIHRGKPFTLEALFD
Der_p_2	1	-MYKILCLSLLVAAVARDQVDVKDCANHEIKKVLVPGCHG-SEPCIIHRGKPFQLEAVFE
Eur_m_2	1	-MYKILCLSLLVAAVAADQVDIKDCANHEIKKVMVPGCKG-SEPCVIHRGTAFQLEAVFD
Gly_d_2	1	MKFKDCGKGEVTELDITDCSGDFCVIHRGKPLTLEAKFA
Lep_d_2	1	MK-FIALFALVAVASAGKMTFKDCGHGEVTELDITGCSGDTCVIHRGEKMTLEAKFA
Pso_o_2	1	MKTLVVLAITLAVVSAGKVKFQDCGKGEVESLEVEGCSGDYCVIHKGKKLDLAISVT
Sui_m_2	1	- <i>MK-FIILAMFVAVAAAGEM</i> KFQDCGHGEVKKLLVS <mark>DCSGDY</mark> CIIHKGKKLSMEADFV
Tyr_p_2	1	- <u>MK-FLILFALVA</u> V <mark>AAAGQVKF</mark> TDCGKKEIASVAVDGCEGDLCVIHKSKPVHVIAEFT
		* *
Ale_o_2	59	ANQDSAKIEVHLTANIDGLSIPIPGVDKDGCKYVTCPIKKGEKVHFNYSLVVPKLIPNLH
Blo_t_2	58	ANQDSEKLEIKISATMNGIEVPVPGVDKDGCKHTTCPLKKGQKYELDYSLIIPTILPNLK
Der_f_2	60	ANQNIKTAKIEIKASLDGLEIDVPGIDTNACHFMKCPLVKGQQYDIKYTWNVPKIAPKSE
Der_p_2	59	ANQNIKTAKIEIKASIDGLEVDVPGIDPNACHYMKCPLVKGQQYDIKYTWNVPKIAPKSE
Eur_m_2	59	ANQNSNAAKIEIKATIDGVEIDVPGIDNNLCHFMKCPLVKGQEYDIKYTWNVPRIAPKSE
Gly_d_2	40	ANQDITKATIKVLAKVAGTPIQVPGLETDGCKFVKCPIKKGDPIDFKYTTTVPAILPKVK
Lep_d_2	58	ANQDIAKVTIKVLAKVAGITIQVPGLETDGCKFIKCPVKKGEALDFIYSGTIPAITPKVK
Pso_o_2	59	SNQDSANLKLDIVADINGVQIEVPGVDHDGCHYVKCPIKKGQHFDVKYTYSIPAILPTTK
Sui_m_2	57	ANQDSPTAVIKISAKVNGVELQVPGIETNGCHHMKCPLVKGQSYQFKYDLVIPQILPNVK
Tyr_p_2	57	ANQDICKIEVKVTCQLNGLEVPIPGIETDGCKVLKCPLKKGTKYTMNYSVNVPSVVPNIK
N10 0 2	110	
Blo + 2	118	TWTT-ASI.VCDHCVWACC-KVNTFVVD
$D_{10}_{c_2}$	120	
Der n 2	119	NVVVTVKIJI ODIOVIJACATATIONI ID NVVVTVKVMCDDCVLACATATIAK IRD
Eur m 2	119	
Glvd2	100	AFWT-AFLVCDHGVLACC-RECROWE-
Lep d 2	118	
Pso o 2	119	AKTT-AKTTGDKGLGGCT-VINGETOD
Sui m 2	117	ADVT-ASUTCAHGI LACG-TVHGEVON
Tvr p 2	117	TVVK-LLATCEHGVLACC-AVNTDVKP
- /	/	

Fig. 18. Alignment of group II members of ML protein family – allergens of storage and house dust mites. Signal peptides are written in italics and conserved cysteine residues are marked by asterisks. *Aleuroglyphus ovatus*, AAS75832 (Ale_o_2); *Blomia tropicalis*, ABG76185 (Blo_t_2); *Dermatophagoides farinae*, BAA01240 (Der_f_2); *D. pteronyssinus*, AAF86462 (Der_p_2); *Euroglyphus maynei*, AAC82349 (Eur_m_2); *Glycyphagus domesticus*, CAB76459 (Gly_d_2); *Lepidoglyphus destructor*, CAA61419 (Lep_d_2); *Psoroptes ovis*, Q965E2 (Pso_o_2); *Suidasia medanensis*, AAS75831 (Sui_m_2); *Tyrophagus putrescentiae*, O02380 (Tyr_p_2).

A_thal An_PGPI_TP At_PGPI_TP Ao_PGPI_TP Cn_PGPI_TP Nc_PGPI_TP Pp_PGPI_TP	1 1 1 1 1	- MAMSHVQPULLLVS
A_thal	37	DYGTVTSIVVSPSVGPHENPTITINLFGSASKNIPAGTLVYVAFRDGEFTGILKTYN
An_PGPI_TP	54	YILQIERVDLTPNP-BLPGKTLTIQATGTINBKTEQGAYVNLEVKYGLITLVRQTAD
At_PGPI_TP	36	YEVKVKBVDISPNP-BLPGKTATTISANTGREISFGKLV-LEVSYFGWEVHSETHD
Ao_PGPI_TP	56	DILDIKQVDLSPNP-BLPGKTLAITASGTIRBKIEDGAYVLEVKYGLITLVRQTAD
Cn_PGPI_TP	58	LATDAIQLKSIKVHPDP-PVPGKNLTVIVEGDVLETIEEGAYVDVTVKLGLIKLLQKEFD
Nc_PGPI_TP	52	DIVTIEBVILTPNP-BEAGQTLTIBASGIVKBAIEBGAYVNLQVKYGYIRLINTSAD
Pp_PGPI_TP	53	QLLTLKBVDLSPNP-PQRGVNLTITAIGDIDVAVTEGAYVEIDVTYGYIKLIHQTFD
A_thal An_PGPI_TP At_PGPI_TP Ao_PGPI_TP Cn_PGPI_TP Nc_PGPI_TP Pp_PGPI_TP	94 110 91 112 117 108 109	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
A_thal	151	DFKVPAPAPAFVSI-
An_PGPI_TP	163	EAHNLEEKAGFI
At_PGPI_TP	139	KFSFDIGLRASVADI-
Cn_PGPI_TP	165	KALNLEFKGPF
Cn_PGPI_TP	172	DLFVDFMKK
Nc_PGPI_TP	161	TZTVFFGRKTLGELDL
Pp_PGPI_TP	162	TGSVEFGPENFSFF

Fig. 19. Alignment of group III members of ML protein family – *Arabidopsis thaliana* ML protein and phosphatidylglycerol/phosphatidylinositol transfer proteins. Signal peptides are written in italics and conserved cysteine residues are marked by asterisks. *A. thaliana*, AY050390 (A_thal); *Aspergillus niger*, XP_001399467 (An_PGPI_TP); *A. oryzae*, AAD16095 (Ao_PGPI_TP); *A. thaliana*, AED91022 (At_PGPI_TP); *Cryptococcus neoformans*, P0CP28 (Cn_PGPI_TP); *Neurospora crassa*, Q7RZ85 (Nc_PGPI_TP); *Pichia pastoris*, CAY68596 (Pp_PGPI_TP).

Dm_CheB42a Ec GM2AP	1 1	MKATFTILVDQVV
Fc GM2AP	1	KING KING KING KING KING KING KING KING
Hs_GM2AP	1	MQSLMQAPLLIALGLLLATPAQAHLKKPSQLSSFSWDNCDEGKDPAVIRSL
Mf_GM2AP	1	MQSLMQAPVLIALGLLFAAPAQAHLKKLGSFSWDNCDEGKDPAVIRSL
Mm_GM2AP	1	MHRLPLLLLLGLLLAGSVAPARLVPKRLSQLGGFSWDNCDEGKDPAVIKSL
Rn_GM2AP	1	MRRVPLLLVLGLLFVLGLLFACPVAPSRLISKRPSQLCGFSWDNCDEGKDPAVIKSL
Xt_GM2AP	1	MAQLLFCFLLTFAGLGQFPSEATASGASLFNWRFLSVNGFSWSNCDGESLPCKIKSL
Dm_CheB42a	53	SIKVHNIGSKVRIEGEQKVVWKDVQPGDTLKVFGQVYRLDKCTVQKTMFIASSNN
Ec_GM2AP	52	TLEPDPIAVPGNVT-VS <mark>AEV</mark> KTTVALSAPQKVELTVEKEVAG <mark>V</mark> WVKIPCVDQIGSCTFDN
Fc_GM2AP	10	TLEPDPIAFPGNLT-VSVEARTEVPLTSPQKVELTVEKEVAGFWAKVPCVEQIGSCTYED
Hs_GM2AP	52	TLEPDPIVVPGNVT-LSVVGSTSVPLSSPLKVDLVLEKEVAGLWIKIPCTDYIGSCTFEH
Mf_GM2AP	49	TLEPDPILIPGNVT-VSVVGSTSVLLSSPLKVELVLEKEVAGLWIKIPCTDYIGSCTFED
Mm_GM2AP	52	T <mark>TQPDPIVVPGDVV-VSLE</mark> GKTSVPLT <mark>A</mark> PQKVELTVEKEVAGFWVKIPCVEQLGSCSYEN
Rn_GM2AP	58	TLQPDPIVVPGDVI-VSAEGKTSIPITSPQKVELTVEKEVAGFWVKIPCVEQLGSCTYEN
Xt_GM2AP	58	SVSPDPINLPGDLT-VSTVLETKVPDTSPVKVILTAEKELLGEMMKVPCIDNVGSCTYDN
		* *
Dm CheB42a	108	ECKNMEDKNOYWYNFWTKY-ISNSDEIKEKCLITEGAVLKYKDYFUDIKUSUNVPNI.
Ec GM2AP	111	ACDILDALTPPGOPCPEPLHTFGLPCHCPFKEGTYSLPKSTFPLPDLELPSWLSN
Fc_GM2AP	69	FCQIIDTVIPPGEPCPEPLHTYGLPCHCPFKAGVYSLPESDFTLPQLEVPGWLSS
Hs_GM2AP	111	FCDVLDMLIPTGEPCPEPLRTYGLPCHCPFKEGTYSLPKSEFVVPDLELPSWLTT
Mf_GM2AP	108	FCDVLDMLIPTGEPCPEPLRTYGLPCHCPFKEGTYSLPKSEFVVPHLELPSWLTT
Mm_GM2AP	111	ICDLIDEYIPPGESCPEPLHTYGLPCHCPFKEGTYSLPTSNFTVPDLELPSWLST
Rn_GM2AP	117	VCDLIDQYIPPGETCPEPLHTYGLPCHCPFKEGTYSLPSSNFTVPDLELPSWLST
Xt_GM2AP	117	VCELIDTIFPPGQQCPEPLRTYGLPCHCPFKEGVYSLPDTTLTLPDVDLPAWLAN
		*
Dm CheB42a	164	DCRYKLVVOIEAFDKRNVRRPVPICIEFRCTAGOV
 Ec_GM2AP	166	-GNYRVQSILSSGGKRLGCVKITASLKAK
Fc_GM2AP	124	-GHYRIKTVLSSGGERLGCVKISASLKGK
Hs_GM2AP	166	-GNYRI <mark>E</mark> SVLSS <mark>SGKRLGCIKIAASLKG</mark> I
Mf_GM2AP	163	-GNYRI <mark>E</mark> SILS <mark>NR</mark> GKRLGCIKIAASLKGV
Mm_GM2AP	166	-GNYRIQSILSSGGKRLGCIKIAASLKGR
Rn_GM2AP	172	-GNYRIQSILSSGGKRLACIKIAASLKGR
Xt_GM2AP	172	- <mark>GNYR</mark> VTGV T IADNKEI CC GKFTF <mark>SL</mark> DSSSWWF

*

Fig. 20. Alignment of group IV members of ML protein family – perception protein of *Drosophila* and GM2 activator proteins. Signal peptides are marked in green and conserved cysteine residues by asterisks. *D. melanogaster*, NP_995765 (Dm_CheB42a); *Equus caballus*, NP_001075381 (Ec_GM2AP); *Felis cattus*, AAS64350 (Fc_GM2AP); *Homo sapiens*, CAA43993 (Hs_GM2AP); *Macaca fascicularis*, BAD51960 (Mf_GM2AP); *Mus musculus*, AAA21543 (Mm_GM2AP); *Rattus norvegicus*, BAC24018 (Rn_GM2AP); *Xenoplus tropicalis*, CAJ83929 (Xt_GM2AP).

ABL61513_Ir_DAl	1 .	MFRYLVFLLIVGAVSCQRRK
CAD68004_Ir_AL	1 .	MFRYVVFLLIVSAVSCQRRK
ABU43149_IrML	1 .	MAGSMVFLALCAFAF-VSAASAAD
AAP84098_Ir_ML	1 .	TSIMAGSMVFLALCAFAF-VSAASAAD
AAY66768_Is	1 .	MNGALVWAVSILAICGAQFIIQQE
AAY66573 Is	1 .	MNGALVWAVSILAICGAOFIIOOE
EEC00381 Is	1 .	SPLHTTTDAMAR-HLIPGTLLLAALCGLTE
EEC03680 Is	1 .	MNRLCYAASLVLVSAALVSAEF
EEC06676 Is	1 .	
EEC07080 Is	1 .	MAASIRLELLALVVTRIMAIFEAS
EEC07323 Is	1 .	MGEKPLFKOLFFTSOHHSSRDILTFIMAGSMVFFALCAFAF-VSAATAAD
EEC12523 Is	1 .	
EEC13424 Is	1 .	
EEC13776 Is	1 .	MSRSFLVLLVLGLASCORRK
EEC16220 IS	1.	
EEC18444 Is	1.	MI.STRNMULLAGSANAULLWVPACVRG
FD482838 IS	1.	AAARAGTGDSSRDILTETMAGSWVFFALCAFAF-WSAATAAD
TC55406 Is	1.	
TC56093 Is	1.	RRRRR
ACE35546 Dv	1.	
ACE35538 Dv	1.	
Rer55556_DV	1.	
CK196595 Dm	1	
CK100505_Km	1	
Pm_1522	1	
Rm-1719	1	
Rm 2126	1	MICTE UN DAWN UNU PUSSERDOD
RIII-2120	1	MLSIS-HILPAVVALLVLFVSSSRAQD
RIII-22	1	
RIII-3273	1	
Rill-3007	1	
RIII-4103	1	
TC22214 Dm	1	
1C22814_Rill	1 .	
AEO32820_Amm	1 1	AVSRRPILKPLTAVAVGRRDYAALRRCRSPIESFLKIASKVLRFVIAVALFGFAMGQRSN
AE032826_Amm	1 .	GRRDYAALRRCQSPIESFLKIASKNLRFVIAVALFGFAMGQRSN
AEO33003_Amm	1 .	GNLPRIRAISRTCSGRLYRVPLLTSSV_FRTMLRTTFFFAVGSTLGQIRD
AEO34342_Amm	1 .	WERRAQPPFGVALVLLVVASTAGK
AEO34818_Amm	1 .	WLRFWTAVALFGLAMGQRSD
AEO35065_Amm	1 .	MLSTR-RILPATVAFILCLFVSWTRAQE
AEO35328_Amm	1 .	MNGAAALGVLVFAVMA
AEO35404_Amm	1 .	MADGRCCFFAALVLVVS-ADLAAAVF
AEO35600_Amm	1 .	MCVLFALQRCTYSTLTRLKSSKPRSPTSMIRLLATILLFGLAFGQRRE
AEO35601_Amm	1 .	MCVLLQLQRCTYSTLTRLKSSKPRSPASMIRLLATILLFGLAFGQRRE
AEO36728_Amm	1 .	MTRHCTSFVLCLVAF-AAPVVFGE
Amc-759	1 .	MLSTR-RILPTIVAFLCLLVSWTRAQ-
ABI52703_Am	1 .	MESMIAKMVLFLLLLAVSLRSCGA
ABI52704_Am	1 .	MESMIAKMVLFLLLLAVSLRSCGA
ABI52707_Am	1 ·	MLLVALISAK
ABI52725_Am	1 .	MESMKVVLMLLALSQGALASDT
ABR23350 Op		MACOD ECONALECCI VI EAAVI VI EV
	1 ·	MASSR-FSCNAVFCGLVLFAAVLVLIV
ABR23463_Op	1 · 1 ·	MASSR-FSCNAWFGGVLFAAVLVLIV MEFVLAFVAAFUAACDAYNF
ABR23463_Op ABR23489_Op	1 · 1 · 1 ·	MASSK-FSCHAFTGU DFAAVUUIV MEFVLAFVAAFIACDAYNF
ABR23463_Op ABR23489_Op ACB70356_Oc	1 · 1 · 1 · 1 ·	

ABL61513_Ir_DAl	21	RUISVEVEPCDS-DPCVFKKGTDV	I
CAD68004_Ir_AL	21	KLISVEVGPCDS-DPCVFKMGTDA	ł
ABU43149_IrML	24	ALSVVKVDQCTDGSTKNVKEVRMTHCES-LPCNVKLADKE	2
AAP84098_Ir_ML	27	ALSVVKVDQCTDGSMKNVKEVRMTHCES-LPCNVKLADKE	2
AAY66768_Is	25	TCTDICRVGITPNDSTMDCRNQLWEHRKLINLTITPCDS-DPCIYQKNTTY	Ζ
AAY66573_Is	25	TCNDICRVAIAVNKTIYQD	-
EEC00381_Is	30	AIK-WTDGGSSEGQVASVSVTGCPHTDTCNLKKGTDV	J
EEC03680_Is	23	DVWKHEKCGGEFGEVRIDPCPE-LPCIFKKGTPI	5
EEC06676_Is	1	VIQSIIVTPCTS-DPCVIPVGTQI	E
EEC07080_Is	25	EFTVVDYTTGGGEALQVRVDPCFQ-LPCSFKKGRSV	J
EEC07323_Is	50	ALSVVKVDQCTDGSTKNVKEVRMTHCES-LPCNVKLADKF	2
EEC12523_Is	1	MITPCDS-DPCTFERGESY	Ζ
EEC13424_Is	1	PCTH-EPCSIKRGETV	J
EEC13776_Is	21	PCIA-HRTTTSKTSSG	£
EEC16220 Is	1		_
EEC18444 Is	28	ODAPGEPTFRNFYNCTWAKGDPGEQAQAYLGGCGSEEICPLYRCSEA	7
FD482838 Is	42	ALSVWKVDOCTDGSTKNVKEVRMTH	_
TC55406 Is	27	GLSVVKVDOCTDGSTKNVKEVRLTHCES-LPCNVKLADKF	S
TC56093 Is	37	ALSVVKVDOCTDGSTKNVKEVRMTHCES-LPCNVKLADKF	S
ACF35546 Dv	37	LSOVEVEACSDGSTSNVAAVRFSHCST-LPCTVTLADKF	S
ACF35538 Dv	23	LSOWEVEACSDGSTSNVAAVRFSHCST-LPCTVTLADKE	2
Ra-2595	27	AT-AEEGPFRPFHNOTWKKGDPGAPALAR GGOPGHDVOP YRNTSA	4
CK186585 Rm	56	DVTTPEKCGGDFTEVRWNPCPO-LPCNFERCKAV	J
CK187450 Rm	5	HOAT-LPCTVTLEDK	2
Rm-1523	27	EKNITI SPODK-DPOV NKCEKY	Z
Rm-1718	23	DV TPEKOGGDFTEVRVNPCPO-LPCNFERCKAV	J
Rm-2126	27	AAAAEEVPERPEHNOTWKKGDPGAPALARI GGOPGLEVOPLYRNTSA	4
Rm-22	1		ŝ.
Rm-3273	21		5
Rm-3607	28	GCSOPDTOTIKKGTOP	Å
Rm-4183	21	KILSFOLEPODS-EPOVEKEGNTT	г
Rm-8994	21	YKFEDOGSAGKLISVEWEPODS-HPOVFLRGKDT	Г
TC22814 Rm	34	DV TPEKOGGDFTEVRWNPCPO-LPCNFERCKAV	J
AE032820 Amm	61	ETLSAFTEPODS-DPOVIKRGEPT	Г
AE032826 Amm	45	ETLSAFIEPODS-DPOVIKRGEPT	г
AE033003 Amm	52	EIISVOVEPCES-DPCEMKRGTSA	Ą
AEO34342 Amm	25	CMAFWKPCTADNGHVLDLTVNTPCNKERYILOKCTNV	J
AE034818 Amm	21	EILSAOTEPODS-DPOVWKRGETT	Г
AEO35065 Amm	27	PEEHGEG-FRPFLOOTTAKGDPGEHAWAR EGODEADVOPLFRNTSA	4
AEO35328 Amm	17	0AROUSFKSCGGAVOSVOMOPCSS-EPCAURCDTA	4
AEO35404 Amm	26		5
AEO35600 Amm	49	FTYEDOGSKAEIVSAEIEPODS-DPOVFKRGSKV	J
AEO35601 Amm	49	FTYEDOGSKAEIVSAEIEPODS-DPOVFKRGSNV	J
AEO36728 Amm	24	LSAWNYDACSDGSTSLVDAVRISHCST-LPCTVTMADKE	2
Amc-759	26	EVGEG-FRPFLECTNAKGEPGIHATAR EGODEOEVOP YRNTTA	4
ABI52703 Am	25	SFGYEPWTLEEGGNNLPNFTSFNSSNCNARGECVAFMGRRI	5
ABI52704 Am	25	SFGYEPVTLEEGGDKESNFTSFNSSNCDSRRGCVAFIGERI	5
ABI52707 Am	11	DKWHTKHCSD-SPCKWVIGAPI	5
ABI52725 Am	23	AANVTTOKCGGEWPKFTSFALAGCT-OPPCDAATCYEI	5
ABR23350_0p	27	QATDSGRQFRTFLPCNSTKYSALPAKI FLKGCEEKPVCPI YRCDSV	J
ABR23463_0p	21	APVCEAGKECKAGAGSRF	7
ABR23489_0p	24	GRCHG-DECFAHPCSLF	7
ACB70356_0c	25	VPTRPCPENSHSYADLRLENCRS-OPCSLYLCSKI	5
ACB70390_Oc	1		-
_			

ABL61513_Ir_DAl	54	KFQMPVP
CAD68004_Ir_AL	54	KFQMPVP
ABU43149_IrML	63	RKPENFE
AAP84098_Ir_ML	66	RKPENF <mark>P</mark>
AAY66768_Is	75	VISFSAIANYSQKFWPWWSKGIPHVNQGKLLGG_WLEQYTEDLR-AFG
AAY66573_Is	44	R-AFG
EEC00381 Is	66	SHVPLPFD
EEC03680 Is	56	KLO-VDEVAADSFKTLOMKLLGELSKGVWLPFP
EEC06676 Is	28	NVOLPIP
EEC07080 Is	60	KMURAASKNOSOWSWGTMCKAGGMURIPLE
EEC07323 Is	89	RRE-VDEVAERDSNVMRVKVOGOTGALNPENFE
EEC12523 Is	19	NTDSFK
EEC13424 Is	31	IIE-WPBRANODSDKLATKISAOTED
EEC13776 IS	54	GFDMPVP
EEC16220 Tg	1	
FEC18444 Te	75	
ED482838 Te	15	
TC55406 Tg	66	
TC56092 Tg	76	
ACE25546 Dr	75	
ACF35540_DV	/ J	
ACF35538_DV	72	
Ra-2595	/3	
CK186585_RII	42	GIW 2D
CK187450_Rm	43	
Rm-1523	61	
Rm-1/18	56	GTWPLP
Rm-2126	74	KKVMVPYGRET
Rm-22	10	KVWLEFP
Rm-3273	54	MLE SVP
Rm-3607	61	NKVPLPFP
Rm-4183	54	TFM_PIP
Rm-8994	54	KVAFLVP
TC22814_Rm	67	GTWLPLP
AEO32820_Amm	94	KVMVPIP
AEO32826_Amm	78	KUMVPIP
AEO33003_Amm	85	KITIPVP
AEO34342_Amm	62	TGVPIPLK
AEO34818_Amm	54	RIF-FTFISDQDSDTLTLDAKFELFSVMMSIP
AEO35065_Amm	73	KKVMVPYGREV
AEO35328_Amm	52	RID-MAFTSNQNSPTLVMAISAMLEDDLELPLP
AEO35404_Amm	59	KIQ-VDFIAADSFQKLEMKLRGELSNGVWLPFP
AEO35600_Amm	82	NVLIPIM
AEO35601_Amm	82	NVLIPIM
AEO36728_Amm	62	QPPQPFP
Amc-759	70	KLE-MQE
ABI52703_Am	66	RDRSHT
ABI52704_Am	66	RDRSHT
ABI52707_Am	44	ERKPKKW
ABI52725_Am	60	RQGNYT
ABR23350_0p	73	TME-VQEVSPIDTTSWYRSMYCCFGASRR-GRETRVRYGREV
ABR23463_0p	57	QHPGDS
ABR23489_0p	57	HSEDS
ACB70356_0c	59	RvKFRSINNSRFTVGVGLHAYFNTTRRNVTTO
ACB70390 Oc	1	GVYRSMFGCFGGSRRSGRETRVRYGREV

ABL61513_Ir_DAl	85	-CIETDLCK-GTVECPVIKCRKYSVTAIFPVPSLM-SL-KTEVTFKVIGDKG
CAD68004_Ir_AL	85	-CIETDLCK-GTVDCPVIRDGSTASPPSSS
ABU43149_IrML	95	-GFKSDACSNMGVECPLVACKQYTAKSQLTMSPTF-PPTQAKAIFKGV-DAA
AAP84098_Ir_ML	98	-GFKSDACSQMGVECPLVACKQYLPSLSSRC-PLHSRRLKQRPF-SKV
AAY66768_Is	122	-EEVSFNFTNPDVDMPLRVTPNETKVTVRLCRKE-LPYDFKLKLYVGTWQ
AAY66573_Is	71	-EEVSFNFTNPDVDMPIRVKENDTFKITARLCRKF-HPYDFKLKIFVGTWQ
EEC00381_Is	97	-VPQPDACQ-SGVTCPVQPAGKYNYRGSFPIKPMY-PSISLDIKWELLDDKD
EEC03680 Is	88	-NFGRNACKKNGLTCPLESCKPYTLOSTLNVLSSF-PTVRGSRGVYMKGDN-
EEC06676_Is	59	-GVEKDACRSGAVVCPVHKCKLFAGTISAYVYNFV-PSLTVTTTWKMVGAQG
EEC07080_Is	91	-FNQKDCCKGSGLDCPLVACRNYTVSRAVRVYRIY-PKMEILAVFEIRGNDG
EEC07323_Is	121	-GFKSDACSNMGVECPLVACKQYTAKSQLTMSPTF-PPTQAKAIFKGV-DAG
EEC12523_Is	48	-INMVTWDSCHFVDVPCTVKACETFMGNVKVPIHKAFSAVSKIPGRVSVWTVE
EEC13424_Is	62	-SLKKDCCREQGIRCPLEKNEKYVFTYSLLLIYLL-FQLNTTAKLSLTGAKG
EEC13776_Is	86	-CIETDLCN-GVIKCPVVKCQTYKGTIIFP
EEC16220 Is	25	-GFKSDACSOMGVECPLVACKOYTAKSOLTMSPTE-PPTOAKAIFKGV-DAA
EEC18444 Is	109	NVCNSTTSIDDNVRCSEESHGLROCRLYRHSGAFLVKPFF-PKVOLNVTVYLYDK-SPOK
FD482838 Is		
TC55406_Is	98	-GFKSDACSQMGVECPLVACKQYTAKSQLTMSPTE-PPTQAKAIFKGV-DAA
TC56093_Is	108	-GFKSDACSNMGVECPLVACKQYTAKSQLTMSPTF-PPTQAKAIFKGV-DAG
ACF35546_Dv	107	-GFKTDACNFMGVSCPLKAGEKYTAKFDLTLSPTF-PPVAAKAVFKGQ-DAA
ACF35538 Dv	93	-GFKTDACNFMGVSCPLKAGEKYTAKFDLTLSPTF-PPVAAKAVFKGO-DAA
Ra-2595	107	SICDSTASVDDDVKCSQADRGLRECHTYRHTGAFFVKPFE-EKVKVDVALYVYDKEGPSK
CK186585 Rm	121	-GFKKNACTKSGLECPLEACKOYTFSKOISVLPSF-PTLEIMAEVRLKADNG
CK187450 Rm	75	-AFKTDACNFMGVSCPLKAGDKYTAKFELAMSPTF-PPVAGKAVFKGO-DAA
Rm-1523	90	-IQSARSISCYYIDVPCNVTKCEVFRGSVTLRILGAE-APGNLTYKLGVGHGK
Rm-1718	88	-GFKKNACTKSGLECPLEACKQYTFSKQISVLPSE-ETLEIMAEVRLKADNG
Rm-2126	108	SICDSTASVDDDVKCSQADRGLRGCHTYRHTGAFFVKPFF-PKVKVDVAVYVYDKEGPTK
Rm-22	42	-GFRKNACKNSGLTCPLEVCKSYTLQSTLNVLSSE-PSVDANVEWSMKGDN-
Rm-3273	85	-GLDKDLCE-NMVKCPISKCQTYSGVMEVYVPPFA-PAMKTHVSLKVVGDKG
Rm-3607	92	-LPQSDACQ-SGVVCPIKACASYTYRGSFPVRESY-PSISLDVKWELVDDNG
Rm-4183	85	-GVEKDLCK-YALQCPVVKCNTYQGSIDVYVPWFI-PSVKTTAQIKLVGDEG
Rm-8994	85	-GMERDMCK-VVYHCPVVKCRTYNGTMTVHVPFYA-PQFEVNVQLKVIGDKG
TC22814_Rm	99	-GFKKNACTKSGLECPLEACKQYTFSKQISVLPSF-PTLEIMAEVRLKADNG
AEO32820_Amm	125	-GLESDLCK-GTIQCPVVKGQTYSGTIDVVVPRLF-PPMKSTVQFRITGDEG
AEO32826_Amm	109	-GLESDLCK-GTIQCPVVKGQTYSGTIDVVVPRLF-PPMKSTVQFRITGDEG
AEO33003_Amm	116	-CIEPNMCK-EVVKCPIKKCQTYRGTLVTPIPSIA-PAGETSLTLKVKGDTG
AEO34342_Amm	93	-MPNDDGCKNSGIECPVKSCEKYMYVQEIEVKPSY-PKMSATIRWSLGDESG
AEO34818_Amm	85	-CLESDLCK-GTIQCPVVKCQTYSGIIEADVPWFV-PAWKSTVQFTITGDKG
AEO35065_Amm	107	NICNATASVDDDVKCTQGNRG RQCHLYQHTGAFFVKPFE-PKVKVNVAVYVYDKEGTNK
AEO35328_Amm	84	-MTDRDGCKGRGIQCPIRESAAYTFNYKLKVEPFY-PKMNTTAKLNLTGARG
AEO35404_Amm	91	-GFRKNACKNNGLSCPLEACKSYTLQSTLNVLSSE-PSVDANVEWSMKGDN-
AEO35600_Amm	113	-GLEKDMCK-GVVQCPVKKCETYTGTLVVSVPSFA-PSMESHVVLKIIGKEG
AEO35601_Amm	113	-GLEKDMCK-GVVQCPVKKCETYTGTLVVSVPSFA-PSMESHVVLKIIGNEG
AEO36728_Amm	94	-AFKTDACNFMGVSCPKACEKYTAKFELTMSPTE-EPVVGKAVIKGQ-DAA
Amc-759		
ABI52703_Am	96	-QYFRATCEDYNINFPCRAEPNQEITGYMQIPLDKEY-KEGAATFTVHAY
ABI52704_Am	96	-QYFRASQDYYINFBCTAKPNEEITGYMQIPIDKEY-KEGAATFTVHAY
ABI52707_Am	75	-QHAELSCPERCTVHPCRVKAARPFGVYLHPTVDEDE-KPGNALLNIEVGSQG
ABI52725_Am	88	-QMYRSTCNEAGTGYPCSVRGQQNFTGYVHFILNDQL-EAGTRR-PDRMD
ABR23350_Op	113	NVCNV17ESASGES-OTQN-HG KQCVENIQSGTFKVMQYH-EKVSVNVEHELYAKERRIV
ABR23463_Op	88	-FVYSSNCQSEWTNYPCVAQPCRNVTCYVAIKIPSSP-KKSLTRIFFNVD
ABR23489_Op	88	-FYYSSGCHDDFTSYPCIARPNESIIGRLAIRIPKSE-KEGLARITFEVH
ACB/0356_0c	91	-WRIRTDOKTPOWHHQCKAAPDETVECTVNFTLLND-EDFLGKGPMRLDNF
ACB/0390_0c	29	NVCNATRSASGE - OTET-QG RQCVEMYQDGTFKVMQYE-EKVSVSVE EVYTKERRAL

ADI61512 Tr DA1	122		
ABL01313_II_DAI	111		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
ADUA2140 T-MI	144		W WO
ABU43149_IFML	144		
AAP84098_Ir_ML	143	WM QGSSSA	FPIR
AAY66/68_IS	1/1	HSFGCCNARVNFTREWKKCLNYDES	EQKTSAEQPRSRAEL
AAY66573_1s	120	YAFGCAEAHVNFTREWKKCLNYDDS	EQPTSTEQPRSRAEL
EEC00381_Is	146	QY VCVL P	KID
EEC03680_Is	137	QTUFCFLVP	KVSD
EEC06676_Is	109	IIACGATNV	TIVRK
EEC07080_Is	141	EV ACVQFP	MHLQ
EEC07323_Is	170	GELFOFTVP	VE KQ
EEC12523_Is	100	RRFVCFMSGGRGI	WRTTSSDWFRLEG
EEC13424_Is	112	-VVFCVTFP	MITD
EEC13776_Is	114	VRAASP	QV
EEC16220_Is	74	GELFCFTVP	VELKQ
EEC18444_Is	167	VPVACVQIP	VQIKDKDRS
FD482838_Is			
TC55406_Is	147	GELFCFTVP	VELKQ
TC56093_Is	157	GELFCFTVP	VELKQ
ACF35546_Dv	156	GEFFCFKVP	V ELKH
ACF35538_Dv	142	GEFFCFKVP	VELKH
Ra-2595	166	TPIACVMIP	VEIW
CK186585_Rm	171	TTIFCFYVP	V KIV
CK187450_Rm	124	GEFFCFKVP	VELKH
Rm-1523	141	RTFACGVSN	LIVE-
Rm-1718	138	TTIFCFYVP	V KIV
Rm-2126	167	TPIACVMIP	VEILDREVE
Rm-22	91	KTIFCFLVP	KVVD
Rm-3273	134	I-SVCAKTP	IMVE
Rm-3607	141	SDITCOLIP	VEIES
Rm-4183	134	V-SVCIRSK	IIVG
Rm-8994	134	V-SICTSAD	TLFO
TC22814 Rm	149	TTIFCFYVP	KIV
AE032820 Amm	174	V-SVCAKTK	IIIE
AE032826 Amm	158	V-SVCAKTK	IIIE
AEO33003 Amm	165	VPAICAKSK	LIVK
AE034342 Amm	143	GTMACAVI P	
AE034818 Amm	134	V-SVCAKTK	IIVE
AEO35065 Amm	166	FPIACVLIP	VEILDRE
AEO35328 Amm	134	-TVACVOFP	WRLVD
AE035404 Amm	140	KTTEGET VP	KVVE
AE035600 Amm	162	E-SVCAKTP	ТТ.ТК
AE035601 Amm	162	E-SVCAKTP	пт. пк
AE036728 Amm	143	GEFFOFSVP	VEFKP
Amc-759			H
ABI52703 Am	144	-STACGRGR	
ABI52704 Am	144		WYMKDM
ABI52707 Am	126	SEEG GOME	
ABI52725 Am	135	-PRSCIR	
ABR23350 00	170	KPLACVRVP	MOTMDRS
ABR23463 On	136		TWVS
ABR23489 Op	136	-GVCCCRMY	WRVSN
ACB70356 Oc	140		WWITETMOERR
ACB70390 00	22		
ACD10390_0C	00		

Fig. 21. Alignment of known tick ML proteins. Sequence were obtained from GenBank and from review by Francishetti et al. (2009). Abbreviated names of tick species are: *Ixodes ricinus* (Ir), *Ixodes scapularis* (Is), *Dermacentor variabilis* (Dv), *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* (Ra), *Rhipicephalus microplus* (Rm), *Amblyomma maculatum* (Amm), *Amblyomma canajense* (Amc), *Argas monolakensis* (Am), *Ornithodoros parkeri* (Op), *Ornithodoros coriaceus* (Oc).

© for non-published parts Jana Plchová

janahora@seznam.cz

Differential expression of tick *Ixodes ricinus* genes induced by blood feeding or infection: genetic analysis of ML domain containing proteins Ph.D. Thesis Series, 2012, No. 1

All rights reserved For non-commercial use only

Printed in the Czech Republic by Vlastimil Johanus Edition of 20 copies

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science Branišovská 31 CZ-37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic

Phone: +420 387 772 244 www.prf.jcu.cz, e-mail: <u>sekret@prf.jcu.cz</u>